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This annual report has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the Company’s 
sponsor, PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. (the “Sponsor”), for compliance with the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist. The Sponsor has not verified the 
contents of this annual report.

This annual report has not been examined or approved by the SGX-ST. The Sponsor and the SGX-ST assume no 
responsibility for the contents of this annual report, including the accuracy, completeness or correctness of any of 
the information, statements or opinions made or reports contained in this annual report.

The contact person for the Sponsor is Mr Thomas Lam, Associate Director, Continuing Sponsorship, at 16 Collyer 
Quay, #10-00 Income at Raffles, Singapore 049318, telephone (65) 6229 8088.

1 Vision, Mission and Our Values

4 Letter to Shareholders

5 Corporate Structure

8 Operations Review

11 Financial Review

13 Board of Directors

15 Key Management

16 Corporate Information

17 Directors’ Statement

20 Independent Auditors’ Report

24 Statements of Financial Position

25 Consolidated Income Statement

26
Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

27
Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity

28
Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows

30 Notes to the Financial Statements

84 Corporate Governance Report

113
Risk Management Policies
and Processes

115 Shareholdings Statistics

117 Notice of Annual General Meeting

 Proxy Form

ConteNTS



1NATURAL COOL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Natural Cool, the preferred choice in 
building solutions

Enhancing the strength and trust in our Brand 
Name through: Safe, Superior, Reliable Products 
and Services, and Strategic Planning

OUR NAME, OUR BRAND
We fulfil promises to shareholders, 
customers and employees

CUSTOMER FOCUS
Customer satisfaction is our ultimate 
duty and responsibility

PEOPLE DEVELOPMENT
We identify and drive every staff 
to their fullest potential

TEAMWORK & UNITY
We win and grow through 
teamwork and unity

CREATIVITY
Our innovation sets us 
apart from the rest

SAFETY
Above all, we value lives 
and assets

VISION

MISSION

OUR VALUES



At Natural Cool, we believe that a sharp vision and focused direction are 

integral in seizing business opportunities and achieving enduring sustainability. 

Our commitment towards delivering innovation never ceases, because it is this 

underlying dynamism that drives us forward. Through the effective optimisation of 

our core capabilities and development of our comprehensive suite of products, we 

are able to cultivate growth and progress for tomorrow and beyond.

FOCUSED
DIRECTIONS
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Dear Shareholders,

2016 was a tumultuous year for Natural Cool. 

Our Air Con division continues to perform well and 
sales revenue reached a new high of S$ 121.5 million. 
Moving forward, we want to continue growing and 
have plans to expand this business to markets outside 
of Singapore in a significant way. We are also studying 
how we can harness technology as a digital disruptor 
in our industry.

Meanwhile, our Paint division struggled last year 
due to stiff market competition and a number of 
operational changes which has resulted in the division 
reporting a loss in 2016. With a new management 
in place at the Paint division, we will work hard to 
achieve profitability in the coming year. In February 
2017, we announced the commencement of an 
internal investigation into certain irregular transactions 
and activities pertaining to the Paint division. While 
this investigation is still on going, we assure you that 
we will where necessary, spare no effort to enforce 
our rights under relevant laws to ensure our assets 
and business are protected. To this end, we have 
appointed our Independent Non-Executive Chairman 
as an advisor to the Company to advise us on inter-
alia, law enforcement matters arising from amongst 
other things, the internal investigation review, and 
other commercial security matters of the Group.

As for our Investment portfolio, we have taken a 
prudent approach to impair the carrying value of our 
long term investments (including our interest in HMK 
Energy Pte Ltd). In this regard, we are currently actively 
reviewing options as to how best we can unlock 
shareholder value from these investments. 

The Board of Directors were reconstituted in February 
2017 amidst much shareholder and public interest 
in the Company. The new Board wishes to assure 
shareholders of its belief in the long term prospects of 
the Company and the new Board has commenced 
its review of the internal policies of the Group with 
the aim of improving the Group’s internal processes 
and systems to realise its potential. Once such review 
is completed, we will update shareholders duly. The 
new Board wishes to assure shareholders that it 
stands committed to steer the Group through this 
difficult time, uphold principles of good corporate 
governance, and deliver value to all shareholders. 

In order to provide the flexibility to the new Board in 
executing its growth strategies, we have proposed re-
instating the general share issue mandate which was 
revoked by Shareholders last December. If approved 
by Shareholders at the upcoming AGM, please be 
assured the new Board will exercise its discretion 
judiciously.

With regards to High Court Case No. 1128/2016 
which the Company is a party to, the matter is now 
in the hands of our lawyers, and we will provide 
Shareholders with an update when there are material 
developments.

APPRECIATION AND WELCOME

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all our 
stakeholders, including our customers, management 
and staff, and our vendors for their unwavering 
support this past one year. We trust that you will 
continue supporting all of our businesses for many 
years to come. 

LETTER TO
SHAREHOLDERS

“Our Air Con division continues to perform well and sales revenue reached a new high 
of S$ 121.5 million. Moving forward, we want to continue growing and have plans to 

expand this business to markets outside of Singapore in a significant way. We are also 
studying how we can harness technology as a digital disruptor in our industry.”

Yours faithfully

Goh Teck Sia Tsng Joo Peng
Independent
Non-Executive Director
and Chairman

Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer
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CORPORATE
STRUCTURE

COUGAR PAINT
PTE. LTD.

100%

LOH & SONS
PAINT

CO (S) PTE LTD

100%

NATURAL COOL
INVESTMENTS PTE. 

LTD.

100%

COUGAR PAINT 
INDUSTRIES
SDN. BHD.

100%

NATURAL 
COOL AIRCON & 
ENGINEERING PTE 

LTD

100%

NC (SINGAPORE)  
PTE. LTD.

100%

NATURAL 
COOL AIRCON 

DISTRIBUTION SDN. 
BHD.

100%

NATURAL COOL 
DISTRIBUTION (JB) 

SDN. BHD.

75%

BUY & FIX
PTE. LTD.

100%



As one of the leading air-conditioning specialists in Singapore, we are motivated by 

the prospect of creating future value for our shareholders and customers. Amidst an 

ever-changing operating environment, we constantly strive to develop our technical 

expertise, efficiently manage our assets and investments, and continuously nurture 

our diverse human capital. These strategies are essential in sustaining the momentum 

that we’ve built in the past as we continue to steer our business towards the future.  

SUSTAINING
OUR MOMENTUM
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OPERATIONS
REVIEW

The year in review saw Natural Cool performing 

well with increased business activities from its air-

conditioning systems installed and maintained in both 

residential and medium commercial sector. This can 

be attributed to higher service standard achieved 

as we constantly upgrade the skills of our repair and 

servicing staff, to proactively respond to all types of air-

conditioner service requests and situations. To serve 

customers well, staff keep themselves abreast of the 

latest technical knowledge on how air-conditioners 

perform in different types of premises such as public 

housing, private residential and landed properties, as 

well as service apartments. 

Natural Cool also has in place a team of in-house 

air-conditioner specialists to handle more complex 

repair and servicing services in commercial and 

industrial spaces. These include public institutions 

such as schools, hospitals, warehouses, commercial 

buildings like offices, shopping malls, retail and F&B 

establishments. Typically, commercial and industrial 

services in such non-standard buildings are subject 

to a tendering process as specialized knowledge is 

required to handle more sophisticated engineering 

demands. 

Over the years, Natural Cool has acquired the 

necessary skills and knowledge to provide solutions 

to tackle air-conditioning mechanical ventilation 

(“ACMV”) systems problems. In addition, our 

Commercial Service Department is specially trained 

to provide Facilities Management services such as 

space planning, assets management and preventive 

maintenance of air-conditioners for smooth and 

uninterrupted operation.



9NATURAL COOL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

COMMERCIAL INSTALLATION

The Commercial Installation Department provide air-

conditioning systems and mechanical ventilation 

system installation services for commercial projects. 

Our commercial projects may relate to public sector 

such as campus, bus depot, substations and nursing 

homes as well as private sector which include 

factories, offices, shopping malls, condominiums and 

landed properties. 

Our commercial projects may be invited via public 

tenders or by private invitations. For some projects, 

we provide only installation services, whereas for 

others, we provide turnkey services, including the 

procurement of air-conditioning systems.

Apart from “Direct Expand System” installation, our 

Commercial Installation Department also carry on 

projects with “Chilled Water System” Installation and 

“Cooling Tower System” Installation for shopping mall 

such as One Raffles Place and commercial building 

such as Vision Exchange.

RETAIL & TRADING

Launched in 2013, the Natural Cool’s Penguin 

Aircon Force (“PAF”) has proven successful and is 

still operating actively to provide quality service to 

customers within the 10 km radius from our main 

showroom at Defu Lane and Toh Guan. Essentially, it 

is time specific location based marketing campaign, 

to demonstrate our product and service commitments 

to both new and existing customers. Since then, 

advertising campaigns have been carried out in 

nearby housing estates like Ang Mo Kio, Bedok and 

Tampines using feeder bus advertisements and 

specially designed brochures. The PAF marketing 

campaign has been so popular that we have begun 

to reach out to the younger generation living in 

relatively newer estates such as, Punggol, Sengkang, 

Upper Serangoon and Pasir Ris.

Apart from direct sales and marketing to end 

consumers, Natural Cool also helps its business 

associates compete effectively by helping them 

perform best sourcing of building and air conditioner 

equipment and accessories. 

OPERATIONS
REVIEW
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OPERATIONS
REVIEW

Such equipment are all types of air-conditioners 

catered for the entire industrial, commercial and 

residential, brands included Daikin, Mitsubishi, 

Panasonic, York, LG and many more. 

Accessories included air-conditioning supporting 

brackets, insulation, all types of pipes and ducts, 

as well as industrial goods like electrical drills, 

drain pumps, screws, bolts & nuts, fasteners, silicon 

applicators, etc. Contractors find it useful and 

convenient as these items are housed under one roof 

and strategically located at our corporate outlets in 

Defu Lane and Toh Guan. 

MECHANICAL & ELECTRICAL 

Over the years, Natural Cool has trained a group of 

specialised people to provides solutions for the whole 

of Building Management and secure a place as a 

Managing Agent (“MA”) for Commercial Buildings 

or estate. Now, Natural Cool provides full spectrum 

of skills required for the further expansion to acquire 

more MA Contracts. 

For greater customer convenience though Social 

Media Marketing and software integration, Natural 

Cool will continue to offer best sourcing for both 

Residential housing and Commercial building of 

its flagship Service and Maintenance Contract 

business. Customised sitemap and wireframe allows 

customers to better address their needs with more 

efficient response and effective results provided. Better 

interactions with technology to streamline our internal 

processes, explore new communication channels 

thereby to achieve “Cost Effectiveness” for both 

Customer and Company.

With the support of all the above components, Natural 

Cool will be able to acquire more “Market Share” in a 

shorter time to come and to obtain rapid growth as 

a result. Hence, to exhibit our strength as a “Market 

Leader” in the air-conditioning and mechanical 

ventilation system.

With the vision to enhance local retail business in 

Singapore, Natural Cool will in time, introduce more 

affordable household products to complement our 

Aircon retail service as part of our continue effort to 

expand our Retail Market place. 
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FINANCIAL
REVIEW

REVIEW OF INCOME STATEMENT

The Group achieved revenue of S$128.97 million for 

the full year ended 31 December 2016 (“FY2016”), an 

increase of S$19.99 million, or 18.34% as compared to 

S$108.98 million in the full year ended 31 December 

2015 (“FY2015”). This was due mainly to higher 

revenue earned by the Group’s Aircon division. 

Gross profit increased by S$1.67 million to S$14.75 

million in FY2016. Gross profit margin decreased from 

12.01% in FY2015 to 11.44% in FY2016 due mainly to 

higher subcontractors’ costs.

Other income increased by S$1.06 million or 169.17% 

to S$1.69 million due mainly to reversal of payables in 

Cambodia, interest income from fixed deposits and 

gain on disposal of motor vehicles.

Distribution expenses increased by S$0.12 million or 

8.29% to S$1.53 million due mainly to higher salaries 

and entertainment expenses.

Administrative expenses increased by S$0.90 million or 

6.24% to S$15.27 million due mainly to higher salaries 

and ex-gratia payments to former Independent 

Directors in FY2016.  

Other expenses increased by S$9.74 million or 

1,787.34% to S$10.29 million due mainly to impairment 

of goodwill in the Paint division, impairment of 

available-for-sale investments, impairment of zero-

coupon convertible bonds, impairment of plant and 

equipment and provision of onerous contract in 

FY2016. 

Finance costs decreased by S$0.29 million or 32.96% 

to S$0.59 million due mainly to lower trade facilities 

utilisation in FY2016.

Tax credit was due mainly to refunds of taxes paid by 

the Aircon division for prior year of assessments.

Arising from the above, the Group reported a loss from 

continuing operation of S$11.23 million in FY2016.
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FINANCIAL
REVIEW

REVIEW OF STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Intangible assets decreased by S$1.48 million to 

S$0.69 million as at 31 December 2016 due mainly to 

the write-off of goodwill in the Paint division.

Other investments decreased by S$5.09 million to 

S$0.93 million as at 31 December 2016 due mainly to 

the impairment of investment in HMK Energy Pte Ltd 

(“HMKE”) as well as change in fair value of the zero-

coupon convertible bonds due from HMKE.

Inventories decreased by S$2.94 million to S$11.71 

million as at 31 December 2016 due mainly to 

utilisation of existing built-up inventory in the Group’s 

Aircon division during the year.

Trade and other receivables decreased by S$4.85 

million to S$19.43 million as at 31 December 2016 

due mainly to the refund of security deposit from the 

landlord of Natural Cool Lifestyle Hub.

Trade and other payables decreased by S$1.26 million 

to S$36.81 million as at 31 December 2016 due mainly 

to lower trade facilities utilisation, lower accrued 

expenses and the amortisation of deferred revenue 

from the sale and lease-back of Natural Cool Lifestyle 

Hub. The decrease is offset by the higher advances 

received from customers of the Aircon division.

The Group made a S$1.99 million provision as at 31 

December 2016 due to a non-cancellable sales and 

leaseback transaction for its Natural Cool Lifestyle 

Hub building whereby rental expenses are committed 

for the leaseback period up to year 2020. Due to 

changes in market conditions, estimated rental 

income is expected to be lower than the committed 

rental expenses and the discounted future losses have 

been provided for as onerous contract.

Total loans and borrowings decreased by S$3.93 

million to S$13.10 million due mainly to repayment of 

finance lease liabilities, bank loans and conversion 

of outstanding loan notes by Mr. Lim Teck Chuan as 

announced on 25 May 2016.

REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Cash flows from operating activities were an inflow of 

S$7.27 million. This was due mainly to higher advances 

received from customers of Aircon division, refund of 

security deposit by from the landlord of Natural Cool 

Lifestyle Hub and selling of existing built-up inventory in 

the Group’s Aircon division.

Cash flows from investing activities were an outflow 

of S$2.04 million. This was due mainly to payments 

for property, plant & equipment in Aircon and Paint 

divisions.

Cash flows from financing activities were an outflow of 

S$17.12 million. This was due mainly to the payment of 

dividend and repayments of finance lease liabilities 

and bank loans.
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Mr Goh was appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 8 February 2017. He is the 
Chairman of the Board, Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of the Company’s Audit and 
Nominating Committees.

Mr Goh was a career police officer and he retired from the Singapore Police Force (SPF) in end January 2017 
after serving for about 50 years.

During his long and illustrious career, he served in senior positions in units including Police Academy, 
Special Operations Command (Police Task Force), Police Operations Department and Criminal Investigation 
Department. Mr Goh also served in a number of Police Land divisions such as Central Police Division, Beach 
Road Police Division and Tanglin Police Division.

Prior to his retirement, Mr Goh was the Head, Support & Technical cum Head Discipline at Tanglin Police Division 
holding the rank of Deputy Superintendent of Police.

Mr Goh received the Long Service Medal in 1995, and the Commendation Medal in 2005. He also received the 
Appreciation Certificate in 2010 from the President of Singapore and Congratulatory Note from the Permanent 
Secretary, Ministry of Home Affairs in 2016 for his services and contributions to the nation

Mr Goh Teck Sia (Richard)
Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Board

Mr Wong was appointed an Executive Director of the Company on 8 February 2017. As an executive director, he 
is responsible for the financial, administrative and human resource matters of the Group. He is also responsible 
for corporate and investor relations of the Company.

Mr Wong has 20 years of experience in professional services and private equity investment in companies, some 
of which he still holds directorships in, none of which are executive in nature.

Mr Wong holds a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from the Nanyang Technological University and is a 
Public Accountant of Singapore and an Approved Liquidator registered with the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority. He also a Fellow Member of the Singapore Association of the Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators and an Accredited Tax Practitioner with the Singapore Institute of Accredited Tax 
Professionals.

Mr Wong Leon Keat 
Executive Director and Chief Corporate Officer

Past directorships in listed companies
(for last three years)

Present directorships in listed companies (Other than 
the Company)

None None

Past directorships in listed companies
(for last three years)

Present directorships in listed companies (Other than 
the Company)

None None

Mr Tsng was appointed to our Board on August 1, 2005 (Date of last re-appointment as Director: 26 April, 
2016) and he was appointed as our Group Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) on October 31, 2013. As CEO, he 
is primarily responsible for overseeing strategic planning, overall business expansion and management of our 
Group.  Mr Tsng has been a Director of Natural Cool since 1993. Prior to joining our Company, Mr Tsng was a 
Director and Shareholder of Aircon Designs Pte Ltd, Aircon Designs Services Pte Ltd, QPA Pte Ltd, Quality Perfect 
Assurance Pte Ltd and NC Airconditioning Pte Ltd.

Mr Tsng Joo Peng
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Past directorships in listed companies
(for last three years)

Present directorships in listed companies (Other than 
the Company)

None None
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Ms Lau was appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 8 February 2017. She 
is the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of the Company’s Nominating and Remuneration 
Committees.

Ms Lau is the proprietor-auditor of Lau Lee Hua & Co., a public accounting firm, since 1995. She is a practising 
member of Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants having been admitted in 1995 and upgraded to a 
Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 1997. She is a Public Accountant of Singapore 
and an Approved Liquidator registered with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority. She was 
appointed as Honorary Treasurer of the Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore, a voluntary 
welfare organisation, on 28 September 2013. Ms Lau was awarded the “Long Service Award” by the People’s 
Association in 2001 and the “MINDS Meritorious Service Award” by Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of 
Singapore in 2009.

Ms Lau Lee Hua
Independent Non-Executive Director

Past directorships in listed companies
(for last three years)

Present directorships in listed companies (Other than 
the Company)

None Gaylin Holdings Limited

Mr Tan was appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 8 February 2017. He 
is the Chairman of our Nominating Committee and a member of the Company’s Audit and Remuneration 
Committees.

Mr Tan is one of the founding Directors of Central Chambers Law Corporation in Singapore with 26 years of 
post-qualification experience. He is a Notary Public, Commissioner for Oaths and heads of the Civil and Criminal 
practice. Mr Tan began his legal practice as a litigator and moved into areas of corporate and commercial 
advice. Mr Tan holds a Bachelor of Laws from University of London and admitted to the English and Singapore 
Bar in 1989 and 1991 respectively.

Mr Tan Siew Bin, Ronnie
Independent Non-Executive Director

Past directorships in listed companies
(for last three years)

Present directorships in listed companies (Other than 
the Company)

None None
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KEY
MANAGEMENT

As the Chief Financial Officer, Mr Leaw oversees all various functions of accounting, financial reporting, cost 
management accounting, foreign exchange management, credit control, management information system, 
tax, cash flow planning and financial systems of our Group. He possesses more than 20 years of working 
experience in accounting and financial management. Mr Leaw joined the Group in 2008, as Chief Financial 
Officer in of one of the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. Prior to that, Mr Leaw worked at SMB Electric Pte Ltd 
and multinational company, Oiltools Pte Ltd, as Senior Finance Manager and Accountant respectively. Prior 
to that, Mr Leaw has also worked at Deloitte & Touche. Mr. Leaw is a member of both Institute of Singapore 
Chartered Accountants and CPA Australia, and holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree majoring in Accounting 
and Finance from University of Western Australia.

Mr Neo was appointed on July 19, 2007 and is primarily responsible for the overall management, business 
planning and daily operations of Natural Cool Airconditioning & Engineering. Mr Neo joined our Group in 1997 
and was promoted to assistant general manager in 2005 where he is responsible for the implementation and 
evaluation of marketing strategies for Natural Cool Airconditioning & Engineering. Prior to his appointment as 
assistant general manager, Mr Neo was a project manager of Natural Cool Airconditioning & Engineering for 
seven years. From 1994 to 1997, he worked as a technical officer in the Port of Singapore Authority, where he was 
responsible for the supervision of the maintenance and servicing of M&E building services. Mr Neo graduated 
with a Diploma in Manufacture Engineering from Singapore Polytechnic in 1990.

Mr Sean Leaw Wei Siang
Group Chief Financial Officer

Mr Neo Han Cheng
Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer, 
Natural Cool Airconditioning & Engineering Pte Ltd
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CORPORATE
INFORMATION
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Mr Ronnie Tan Siew Bin
Independent Non-Executive Director
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Mr Ronnie Tan Siew Bin
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Ms Lau Lee Hua 
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We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited 
fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2016.

In our opinion, and taking into consideration the current status of the internal investigation as disclosed in Note 
32 to the fi nancial statements:

(a) the fi nancial statements set out on pages 24 to 83 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of 
the fi nancial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and the fi nancial 
performance, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group for the year ended on that date in 
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these fi nancial statements for issue.

Directors

The Directors in offi ce at the date of this statement are as follows:

Goh Teck Sia Independent Non-Executive Chairman (Appointed on 8 February 2017)
Tsng Joo Peng Chief Executive Offi cer 
Wong Leon Keat Chief Corporate Offi cer (Appointed on 8 February 2017)
Lau Lee Hua Independent Director (Appointed on 8 February 2017)
Ronnie Tan Siew Bin Independent Director (Appointed on 8 February 2017)

Directors’ interests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Chapter 
50 (the Act), particulars of interests of Directors who held offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year (including those 
held by their spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants or share options in the Company and 
in related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows:

Name of Director and corporation in which interests are held
Holdings at 

beginning of the year
Holdings at 

end of the year

The Company
Ordinary shares

Tsng Joo Peng
- interest held 5,000,000 16,300,000
- deemed interest 12,348,426 1,048,426

Joseph Ang Choon Cheng
- interest held 25,549,385 863,885
- deemed interest 3,150,001 1

Eric Ang Choon Beng
- interest held 352 352
- deemed interest 7,832,000 1,000
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Except as disclosed in this statement, no Director who held offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had interests 
in shares, debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the 
beginning or at the end of the fi nancial year.

There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the 
fi nancial year and 21 January 2017.

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the fi nancial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement 
whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by 
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Share options

During the fi nancial year, there were:

(i) no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued shares in the 
Company or its subsidiaries; and

(ii) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the Company or its 
subsidiaries.

As at the end of the fi nancial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under 
option.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this statement are:

 Lau Lee Hua (Chairman), Independent Director (Appointed on 8 February 2017)
 Goh Teck Sia, Independent Director (Appointed on 8 February 2017)
 Ronnie Tan Siew Bin, Independent Director (Appointed on 8 February 2017)
 Lim Siang Kai (Chairman), Lead Independent Director (Removed on 8 February 2017)
 Dr. Wu Chiaw Ching, Independent Director (Removed on 8 February 2017)
 William da Silva, Independent Director (Removed on 8 February 2017)

The Audit Committee performs the functions specifi ed in Section 201B of the Act, the SGX-ST Listing Manual 
Section B: Rules of Catalist (SGX Listing Manual) and the Code of Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings since the last Directors’ statement.  In performing its functions, the 
Audit Committee met with the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the 
results of their examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

 assistance provided by the Company’s offi cers to the internal and external auditors;
 half yearly fi nancial information and annual fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company prior to 

their submission to the Directors of the Company for adoption;  
 interested person transactions (as defi ned in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual); and
 investigation fi ndings by the investigation committee as disclosed in Note 32 to the fi nancial statements.

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its 
functions.  It has full authority and the discretion to invite any Director or executive offi cer to attend its meetings.  
The Audit Committee also recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit 
and non-audit fees.
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The Audit Committee is satisfi ed with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has 
recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as 
auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

In appointing our auditors for the Company and subsidiaries, we have complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the 
SGX Listing Manual.

Auditors

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Tsng Joo Peng
Director

Wong Leon Keat
Director

31 March 2017
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Report on the audit of the fi nancial statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Natural Cool Holdings Limited  (‘the Company’) 
and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’), which comprise the consolidated statement of fi nancial position of the Group 
and the statement of fi nancial position of the Company as at 31 December 2016, the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash fl ows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the fi nancial 
statements, including a summary of signifi cant accounting policies, as set out on pages 24 to 83.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of 
fi nancial position of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, Chapter 50 (‘the Act’) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (‘FRSs’) so as to give a true and 
fair view of the consolidated fi nancial position of the Group and the fi nancial position of the Company as 
at 31 December 2016 and of the consolidated fi nancial performance, consolidated changes in equity and 
consolidated cash fl ows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (‘SSAs’).  Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the fi nancial 
statements’ section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and 
Accounting Entities (‘ACRA Code’) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
fi nancial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfi lled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
ACRA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most signifi cance in our audit 
of the fi nancial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the fi nancial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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Valuation of non-fi nancial assets
(Refer to Notes 4 and 5 to the fi nancial statements)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s market 
capitalisation was below its net assets.  This is an 
indication that the Group’s non-fi nancial assets may 
be impaired.

The Group performed an impairment assessment of 
its non-fi nancial assets by estimating the recoverable 
amounts of its two cash generating units (‘CGUs’) - 
Aircon CGU and Paint CGU.  The recoverable amount 
of each CGU has been derived using their respective 
cash fl ow forecasts.

Forecasting future cash fl ows is a highly judgemental 
process which involves making assumptions relating 
to estimates on revenue growth, gross profi t margin, 
operating expenses and the discount rates.

We assessed the Group’s process of setting budgets 
on which the cash fl ow forecasts are based.

The key assumptions including, revenue growth, gross 
profi t margin and operating expenses were assessed 
by comparing them to historical results, market data 
and industry forecasts.  This includes making enquiries 
with management about their business strategies 
and plan on revenue growth and profi tability.

We assessed the discount rates used by reference to 
comparable companies’ weighted average cost of 
capital. 

We performed sensitivity analysis around the key 
drivers of the cash fl ow forecasts, in particular the 
revenue growth, gross profi t margin and operating 
expenses.

We assessed whether the disclosures were 
appropriate.

Our fi ndings

We found the estimates used in the cash flow 
forecasts to be balanced and the disclosures in the 
notes to the fi nancial statements to be appropriate.

Valuation of other investments
(Refer to Note 7 to the fi nancial statements)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group holds investments consisting of equity 
investment and convertible bonds totalling S$6.2 
million, in a company (‘investee’) which is in the 
business of exploration and production of oil and 
gas.  An impairment loss of S$5.3 million has been 
recognised in 2016.

The investee operates under a Production Sharing 
Contract (‘PSC’) granted by the Government of 
Indonesia to carry on its exploration activities in its 
designated contract area in Lampung III Contract 
Area in South Sumatra, Indonesia.  The company has 
up to FY2019 to complete its exploration activities.  
This period can be extended.

As of date of this report, the investee is currently still in 
the stage of exploration.

There is a risk that the carrying amounts of the 
Group’s investment may not be recoverable. 
Management assessed the recoverable amount 
based on fair value less cost to sell.  Determination 
of the recoverable amount, in particular the potential 
selling price of the PSC involves judgement.

We obtained the latest fi nancial statements of the 
investee and reviewed management’s valuation 
model of the investment. 

We updated our understanding of the current 
exploration progress based on inquiry of 
management and available public information. 

We assessed management’s valuation of the Group’s 
investment in the investee based on the investee’s 
continuing involvement in the designated contract 
area for the next three years up to the end of the 
concession period in FY2019 and the potential value 
of the PSC.

Our fi ndings

We found the total impairment of S$5.3 million to be 
consistent with management’s basis of assessment.
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Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 32 to the fi nancial statements.  The Group has recently formed an internal 
investigation committee to review the alleged irregular transactions relating to certain subsidiaries in the Paint 
business.  The ultimate outcome of the matter cannot presently be determined as the internal investigation is 
still in progress.  The fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 has not been adjusted for the 
fi ndings from the internal investigation.  However, as the contributions from the Paint business are not material 
to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016, our opinion on the fi nancial statements is not modifi ed in 
respect of this matter.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, but does not include the fi nancial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the fi nancial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the fi nancial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identifi ed above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
fi nancial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and Directors for the fi nancial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls suffi cient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profi t and loss accounts and balance sheets and to 
maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the fi nancial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s fi nancial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the fi nancial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to infl uence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these fi nancial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.
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 Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast signifi cant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to 
the related disclosures in the fi nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the fi nancial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the fi nancial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain suffi cient appropriate audit evidence regarding the fi nancial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements.  We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.  We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and signifi cant audit fi ndings, including any signifi cant defi ciencies in internal controls that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most signifi cance 
in the audit of the fi nancial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.  We 
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless the law or regulations preclude public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefi ts of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Phuoc Tran.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
31 March 2017
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Group Company
Note 2016 2015 2016 2015

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Restated*

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 21,512 22,067 23 16
Intangible assets 5 690 2,171 33 45
Subsidiaries 6 – – 6,899 6,899
Other investments 7 928 6,018 928 6,018
Deferred tax assets 15 802 1,023 – –
Non-current assets 23,932 31,279 7,883 12,978

Inventories 8 11,711 14,650 – –
Trade and other receivables 10 19,427 24,277 11,434 7,188
Cash and cash equivalents 11 25,028 36,900 3,080 28,364
Current assets 56,166 75,827 14,514 35,552
Total assets 80,098 107,106 22,397 48,530

Equity
Share capital 12 36,412 31,957 36,412 31,957
Reserves 13 (3,476) (3,445) 300 300
Accumulated (losses)/profi ts (6,975) 20,977 (14,833) 8,107
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 25,961 49,489 21,879 40,364
Non-controlling interests (1) 9 – –
Total equity 25,960 49,498 21,879 40,364

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings 14 12,097 8,554 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 15 1,427 1,405 – –
Provision 17 1,570 – – –
Non-current liabilities 15,094 9,959 – –

Loans and borrowings 14 1,000 8,473 – 2,700
Trade and other payables 16 36,806 38,062 518 5,466
Provision 17 423 – – –
Current tax payable 815 1,114 – –
Current liabilities 39,044 47,649 518 8,166
Total liabilities 54,138 57,608 518 8,166
Total equity and liabilities 80,098 107,106 22,397 48,530

* refer to Note 28 for details
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Group
Note 2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 20 128,970 108,978
Cost of sales (114,219) (95,894)
Gross profi t 14,751 13,084

Other income 21 1,685 626
Distribution expenses (1,528) (1,411)
Administrative expenses (15,266) (14,369)
Other expenses 24 (10,286) (545)
Results from operating activities (10,644) (2,615)

Finance costs 22 (594) (886)
Loss before tax (11,238) (3,501)

Tax credit/(expense) 23 8 (16)
Loss from continuing operations 24 (11,230) (3,517)

Discontinued operation
Profi t from discontinued operation (net of income tax) 25 – 9,988
(Loss)/Profi t for the year (11,230) 6,471

(Loss)/Profi t attributable to:
Owners of the Company (11,194) 6,495
Non-controlling interests (36) (24)
(Loss)/Profi t for the year (11,230) 6,471

(Loss)/Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 26 (5.11) 3.16

(Loss)/Earnings per share – Continuing operations
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 26 (5.11) (1.70)
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Group
Note 2016 2015

$’000 $’000

(Loss)/Profi t for the year (11,230) 6,471

Other comprehensive income
Item that is or may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences from translation of foreign
 operations 8 (430)
Exchange differences on monetary items forming part of net 
 investment in foreign operations (24) (220)
Exchange differences realised from discontinued operation 25 – 636
Exchange differences realised from de-registration of a subsidiary 11 –
Other comprehensive income for the year (5) (14)
Total comprehensive income for the year (11,235) 6,457

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company (11,225) 6,482
Non-controlling interests (10) (25)
Total comprehensive income for the year (11,235) 6,457
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Group
Note 2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Cash fl ows from operating activities
(Loss)/profi t for the year (11,230) 6,471
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of deferred revenue (1,300) (1,300)
Amortisation of intangible assets 86 668
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,633 2,837
Gain on de-registration of a subsidiary (11) –
Gain on sale of discontinued operation 25 – (15,517)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (173) 443
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investment 3,750 –
Impairment loss on goodwill 1,580 –
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 288 362
Impairment loss on plant and equipment 955 –
Interest expenses 594 1,405
Interest income (160) (25)
Plant and equipment written-off 9 34
Provision for onerous contract 1,993 –
Tax (credit)/expense on continuing operations (8) 16
Tax credit from discontinued operation 25 – (180)
Net change in fair value of zero-coupon convertible bonds 1,341 (120)

(653) (4,906)
Changes in working capital:
Inventories 3,054 (5,289)
Trade and other receivables 4,564 4,448
Trade and other payables 348 5,643
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 7,313 (104)
Income tax paid (48) (74)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 7,265 (178)

Cash fl ows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 130 (7,317)
Interest received 160 25
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 228 301
Purchase of computer software (107) (103)
Purchase of industrial certifi cates – (1,331)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,455) (1,383)
Sale of discontinued operation, net of cash disposed 25 – 31,846
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (2,044) 22,038
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

Group
Note 2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Fixed deposits released – 250
Interest paid (594) (1,105)
Non-trade amount due from a related party 28 7
Payment of dividend 12 (16,758) –
Proceeds from issue of share capital 12 1,755 –
Redemption of convertible loan notes  14 – (3,750)
Proceeds from issue of convertible loan notes 14 – 2,700
Proceeds from borrowings 5,620 6,000
Repayment of bank borrowings (6,402) (3,329)
Repayment of fi nance lease liabilities (771) (236)
Net cash (used in)/from fi nancing activities (17,122) 537

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (11,901) 22,397
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate 29 263
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 36,900 14,240
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 10 25,028 36,900

Signifi cant non-cash transactions

During the financial year, the Group acquired plant and equipment amounting to $2,090,000 (2015: 
$2,545,000), of which $323,000 (2015: $217,000) was acquired under fi nance lease (see Note 4) and $51,000 
(2015: $755,000) remained unpaid as at year end (see Note 16).

During the fi nancial year, the Group acquired computer software amounting to $158,000 (2015: $77,000), of 
which $88,000 (2015: $37,000) remained unpaid as at year end (see Note 16).
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These notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.

The fi nancial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2017.

1 Domicile and activities

 Natural Cool Holdings Limited (the ‘Company’) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and has its 
registered offi ce at 29 Tai Seng Avenue, #07-01 Natural Cool Lifestyle Hub, Singapore 534119.

 The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company.  The principal activities 
of the subsidiaries during the year are as follows:

  Air-conditioning: trading of air-conditioners, air-condition components, systems and units, air-
condition installation, servicing and re-conditioning;

  Investment: properties investment holding; and

  Paint: manufacturing and trading of paint and basic chemicals.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as 
the ‘Group’ and individually as ‘Group entities’).

2 Basis of preparation

2.1 Statement of compliance

 The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘FRS’).

2.2 Basis of measurement

 The fi nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described 
in accounting policies below.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

 These fi nancial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected.

 Information about assumptions and other major sources of estimation uncertainties that have a 
signifi cant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next fi nancial year are included in the 
following notes: 

  Note 4 – estimated useful lives and impairment loss of property, plant and equipment
  Note 5 – measurement of recoverable amounts of goodwill
  Note 7 – measurement of recoverable amounts of other investments
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2 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements (Continued)

 Information about other judgements made and estimates applied are included in the following notes:

  Note 6 – measurement of recoverable amounts of investments in subsidiaries
  Note 8 – valuation of carrying amount of inventories
  Note 10 – impairment losses on trade and other receivables
  Note 17 – provision for onerous contract
  Note 20 – revenue and profi t recognition from construction contracts
  Note 28 – acquisition of subsidiary: determine of purchase price allocation

2.5 Changes in accounting policies

 In the current fi nancial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations 
of FRSs (‘INT FRSs’) that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on 1 
January 2016.  The adoption of these new and revised FRSs and INT FRSs did not result in substantial 
changes to the Group’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the 
current and prior periods.

3 Signifi cant accounting policies

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
fi nancial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

3.1 Basis of consolidation

 (i) Business combinations

  Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with 
FRS 103 Business Combination as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group.

  Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts 
of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets, at the acquisition date.  The measurement basis taken is 
elected on a transaction-by-transaction basis.  All other non-controlling interests are measured at 
acquisition-date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by FRSs.

  The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships.  Such amounts are generally recognised in profi t or loss.

  Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and 
included in the consideration transferred.  If the contingent consideration that meets the defi nition 
of a fi nancial instrument is classifi ed as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for 
within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are 
recognised in profi t or loss.

  Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity 
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as 
incurred.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

 (ii) Subsidiaries

  Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  The Group controls an entity when it is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity.  The fi nancial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated fi nancial statements from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases.

  The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them 
with the policies adopted by the Group.  Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a 
subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling 
interests to have a defi cit balance.

 (iii) Acquisition from entities under common control

  Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the 
shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the 
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented or, if later, at the date that common control 
was established; for this purpose comparatives are restated.  The assets and liabilities acquired are 
recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group controlling shareholder’s 
consolidated fi nancial statements.  The components of equity of the acquired entities are added 
to the same components within Group equity, and any gain/loss arising is recognised directly in 
equity.

 (iv) Loss of control

  Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any 
non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary.  Any surplus 
or defi cit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profi t or loss.  If the Group retains any interest 
in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is 
lost.  Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale 
fi nancial asset depending on the level of infl uence retained.

 (v) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

  Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from 
intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 (vi) Accounting for subsidiaries

  Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s statement of fi nancial position at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

3.2 Foreign currency

 (i) Foreign currency transactions

  Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of 
Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at that date.  The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items 
is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, 
adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign 
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 Foreign currency (Continued)

 (i) Foreign currency transactions (Continued)

  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair 
value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair 
value was determined.  Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms 
of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  Foreign 
currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profi t or loss.

 (ii) Foreign operations

  The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on acquisition, are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the reporting 
date.  The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollars at 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 
on the acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign operation and are translated at the exchange rates at the reporting date.  
For acquisitions prior to 1 January 2005, the exchange rates at the date of acquisition were used.

  Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the 
foreign currency translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity.  However, if the foreign operation 
is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference 
is allocated to the non-controlling interests.  When a foreign operation is disposed of such that 
control, signifi cant infl uence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation 
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassifi ed to profi t or loss as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal.  When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign 
operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed 
to non-controlling interests.

  When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is 
neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from 
such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation are 
recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented in the translation reserve in equity.

3.3 Financial instruments

 (i) Non-derivative fi nancial assets

  The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are 
originated.  All other fi nancial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profi t or 
loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

  The Group derecognises a fi nancial asset when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash fl ows on the fi nancial asset in 
a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the fi nancial asset are 
transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
and does not retain control over the transferred asset.  Any interest in transferred fi nancial assets 
that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

  Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statements of 
fi nancial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

  The Group classifi es non-derivative fi nancial assets into the following categories: fi nancial assets at 
fair value through profi t or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale fi nancial assets.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

3.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

 (i) Non-derivative fi nancial assets (Continued)

  Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss

  A fi nancial asset is classifi ed at fair value through profi t or loss if it is designated as such upon 
initial recognition.  Financial assets are designated at fair value through profi t or loss if the Group 
manages such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on the fair value in 
accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy.  Attributable 
transaction costs are recognised in profi t or loss incurred.  Financial assets at fair value through 
profi t or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, which takes into account any 
dividend income, are recognised in profi t or loss.

  Financial assets designated at fair value through profi t or loss comprise investment in zero-coupon 
convertible bonds.

  Loans and receivables

  Loans and receivables are fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market.  Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

  Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables.

  Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits with maturities of 
three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes 
in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments.  
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, pledged deposits are excluded whilst 
bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management are included in cash and cash equivalents.

  Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

  Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated 
as available for sale or are not classifi ed in any of the above categories of fi nancial assets.  
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes 
therein, other than impairment losses, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
presented in the fair value reserve in equity.  When an investment is derecognised, the gain or loss 
accumulated in equity is reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.

  Available-for-sale fi nancial assets comprise unquoted equity securities.

 (ii) Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities

  All fi nancial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

  The Group derecognises a fi nancial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or expire.

  Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statements of 
fi nancial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

3.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

 (ii) Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities (Continued)

  The Group classifi es non-derivative fi nancial liabilities into the other fi nancial liabilities category. 
Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these fi nancial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

  Other fi nancial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.

 (iii) Share capital

  Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

 (iv) Compound fi nancial instruments 

  Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible loan notes 
denominated in Singapore dollars that can be converted to share capital at the option of the 
holder, where the number of shares to be issued is fi xed. 

  The liability component of a compound fi nancial instrument is recognised initially at the fair value 
of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option.  The equity component is 
recognised initially at the difference between the fair value of the compound fi nancial instrument 
as a whole and the fair value of the liability component.  Any directly attributable transaction costs 
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 

  Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound fi nancial instrument 
is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  The equity component of a 
compound fi nancial instrument is not remeasured subsequent to initial recognition.

  Interest and gains and losses related to the fi nancial liability component are recognised in profi t or 
loss.  On conversion, the fi nancial liability is reclassifi ed to equity; no gain or loss is recognised on 
conversion.

 (v) Intra-group fi nancial guarantees in the separate fi nancial statements

  Financial guarantees are fi nancial instruments issued by the Company that require the issuer to 
make specifi ed payments to reimburse the holder for the loss it incurs because a specifi ed debtor 
fails to meet payment when due in accordance with the original or modifi ed terms of a debt 
instrument.

  Financial guarantee contracts are accounted for as insurance contracts.  A provision is recognised 
based on the Company’s estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but unpaid 
at the reporting date.  The provision is assessed by reviewing individual claims and tested for 
adequacy by comparing the amount recognised and the amount that would be required to settle 
the guarantee contracts.

3.4 Measurement of fair values

 A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for 
both fi nancial and non-fi nancial assets and liabilities.

 The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.  
Management has overall responsibility for all signifi cant fair value measurement, including Level 2 and 
Level 3 fair values, and reports directly to the Board of Directors.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

3.4 Measurement of fair values (Continued)

 Management regularly reviews signifi cant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments.  If third party 
information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then management 
assesses and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that 
such valuations meet the requirements of FRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such 
valuations should be classifi ed.

 Signifi cant valuation issues are reported to the Board of Directors and Audit Committee.

 When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far 
as possible.  Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs 
used in the valuation techniques as follows:

 Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 Level 2 : inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

 Level 3 : inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).

 If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same 
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is signifi cant to the entire measurement (with 
Level 3 being the lowest).

 The Group recognises transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting 
period during which the change has occurred.

 Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in Note 19 – 
Measurement of fair values.

3.5 Property, plant and equipment

 (i) Recognition and measurement

  Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of 
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, when the Group 
has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling 
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalised 
borrowing costs. 

  When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

  The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment, and is recognised net within other income/other expenses in profi t or loss.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

3.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

 (ii) Subsequent costs

  The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefi ts embodied within 
the component will fl ow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount 
of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised in profi t or loss as incurred.

 (iii) Depreciation

  Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value.  Signifi cant components 
of individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the 
remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.

  Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is 
included in the carrying amount of another asset.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter 
of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term.  Freehold land is not depreciated.

  Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed 
and are ready for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is 
completed and ready for use.

  The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

  Freehold properties 50 years 
  Leasehold properties over the lease terms, ranging from 34 – 46 years
  Computers 3 years
  Furniture, fi ttings and offi ce equipment 5 years
  Motor vehicles 5 – 10 years 
  Tools and machineries 5 – 10 years
  Renovation 5 years

  Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and adjusted if appropriate.

3.6 Intangible assets

 (i) Goodwill

  Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.  The Group 
measures goodwill at acquisition date as:

   the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

   the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

   if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity 
interest in the acquiree, 

 
  over the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifi able assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed.  Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment.

  When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

3.6 Intangible assets (Continued)

 (i) Goodwill (Continued)

  Subsequent measurement

  Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

 (ii) Customer relationships and trademark

  Customer relationships and trademark that are acquired in a business combination by the Group 
and have fi nite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

  Amortisation is recognised in profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 20 
years.

 (iii) Computer software

  Computer software licenses are initially recognised at cost which includes the purchase price 
(net of any discounts and rebates) and other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to 
a working condition for their intended use.  Direct expenditure, which enhances or extends the 
performance of computer software beyond its specifi cations and which can be reliably measured, 
is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.  Costs 
associated with maintaining the computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred.

  Computer software licenses are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses.

  Amortisation is recognised in profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
3 years from the date that they are available for use, since this most closely refl ects the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefi ts embodied in the assets.

  Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting period and 
adjusted if appropriate.

 (iv) Industrial certifi cates

  Industrial certifi cates represent costs incurred by the Group to obtain Association of Short Circuit 
Testing Authority (“ASTA”) certifi cates for developed capabilities to design, construct and develop 
low-voltage switchboards to meet international standards.  Amortisation is recognised in profi t or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 25 years, from the date that they are 
available for use, since this most closely refl ects the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefi ts embodied in the assets.

  Amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.

 (v) Subsequent expenditure
 
  Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefi ts 

embodied in the specifi c asset to which it relates.  All other expenditure, including expenditure on 
internally generated goodwill, is recognised in profi t or loss as incurred.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

3.7 Leased assets

 Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classifi ed as fi nance leases.  Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal 
to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that 
asset.

 Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s statement of fi nancial position.

3.8 Inventories

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  The cost of inventories is based 
on the fi rst-in fi rst-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production 
or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.  
In the case of manufactured inventories and work-in-progress, cost includes an appropriate share of 
production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

 Construction contracts-in-progress

 Construction contracts-in-progress represent the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from 
customers for contract work performed to date.  It is measured at cost plus profi t recognised to date (see 
Note 3.13) less progress billings.  Cost includes all expenditure related directly to specifi c projects and an 
allocation of fi xed and variable overheads incurred in the Group’s contract activities based on normal 
operating capacity.

 Construction contracts-in-progress is presented as part of inventories in the statement of fi nancial position 
for all contracts in which costs incurred plus recognised profi ts exceed progress billings.  If progress 
billings exceed the costs incurred plus recognised profi ts, then the difference is presented as excess 
of progress billings over construction contracts-in-progress as part of trade and other payables in the 
statement of fi nancial position.

3.9 Impairment

 (i) Non-derivative fi nancial assets 

  A fi nancial asset not carried at fair value through profi t or loss is assessed at the end of each 
reporting period to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A fi nancial 
asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event(s) has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event(s) has a negative effect on the estimated future 
cash fl ows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

  Objective evidence that fi nancial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include 
default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms 
that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor will enter bankruptcy, 
adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers, and economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security.  In addition, for an 
investment in an equity security, a signifi cant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its costs is 
objective evidence of impairment.
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3 Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

3.9 Impairment (Continued)

 (i) Non-derivative fi nancial assets (Continued)

  Loans and receivables

  The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specifi c asset 
and collective level.  All individually signifi cant loans and receivables are assessed for specifi c 
impairment.  All individually signifi cant loans and receivables found not to be specifi cally impaired 
are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identifi ed.  
Loans and receivables that are not individually signifi cant are collectively assessed for impairment 
by grouping together loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.

  In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the 
timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as 
to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be 
greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

  An impairment loss in respect of a fi nancial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as 
the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 
fl ows, discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  Losses are recognised in profi t or loss 
and refl ected in an allowance account against loans and receivables.  Interest on the impaired 
asset continues to be recognised.  When the Group considers that there are no realistic prospects 
of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written off.  If the amount of impairment loss 
subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, then the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through profi t or loss.

  Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

  Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the 
losses accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity to profi t or loss.  The cumulative loss that 
is reclassifi ed from equity to profi t or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss recognised previously in profi t or loss.  The amount of 
the reversal is recognised in profi t or loss.  However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an 
impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive income.

 (ii) Non-fi nancial assets 

  The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-fi nancial assets, other than inventories and deferred 
tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  For 
goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefi nite useful lives or that are not yet available for 
use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.  An impairment loss is 
recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (‘CGU’) exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount.

  The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset or CGU.  For the purpose of impairment testing, 
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets 
that generates cash infl ows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash infl ows 
of other assets or CGUs.  Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill 
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level 
at which impairment testing is performed refl ects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of 
CGUs that are expected to benefi t from the synergies of the combination.
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3.9 Impairment (Continued)

 (ii) Non-fi nancial assets (Continued)
 
  The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash infl ows and are utilised by more than 

one CGU.  Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and 
tested for impairment as part of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

  Impairment losses are recognised in profi t or loss.  Impairment losses recognised in respect of 
CGUs are allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU 
(group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group 
of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

  An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  In respect of other assets, impairment 
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 
loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to 
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.10 Employee benefi ts

 (i) Defi ned contribution plans

  A defi ned contribution plan is a post-employment benefi t plan under which an entity pays fi xed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts.  Obligations for contributions to defi ned contribution pension plans are recognised as 
staff costs in profi t or loss in the periods during which related services are rendered by employees.

 (i) Short-term employee benefi ts 

  Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided.  A liability is recognised for the amount expected to 
be paid under short-term cash bonus or profi t-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, 
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.11 Provision

 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outfl ow of economic benefi ts will be 
required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash fl ows 
at a pre-tax rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c 
to the liability.  The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a fi nance cost.

 (i) Onerous contract

  A provision for onerous contract is recognised when the expected benefi ts to be derived by the 
Group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under 
the contract.  The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost 
of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract.  Before a 
provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with 
that contract.
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3.12 Deferred revenue

 (i) Advance payments received from customers

  Deferred revenue relates to advance payments received from customers in respect of servicing of 
air-conditioners.  Deferred revenue is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period stipulated 
in the respective customer contract commencing from date of supply and upon rendering of 
services.

 (ii) Excess of sales proceeds over the fair value of the property

  Deferred revenue relates to the excess of sales proceeds over the fair value of the property which 
is deferred and accreted over the period for which the property is expected to be used, when the 
sale and leaseback transaction resulted in operating lease.

3.3 Revenue 

 (i) Sale of goods

  Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates.  
Revenue is recognised when signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 
to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible 
return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with 
the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.  If it is probable that discounts 
will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognised as a 
reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

  The timing of the transfer of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the sales 
agreement. Transfer usually occurs when the product is received at the customer’s warehouse; 
however, for some international shipments, transfer occurs upon loading of the goods on to the 
relevant carrier at the port.  Generally, for such products, the customer has no right of return.

 (ii) Construction contracts

  Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract 
work, claims and incentive payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue 
and can be measured reliably.  When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated 
reliably, contract revenue is recognised in profi t or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of 
the contract.  Contract expenses are recognised as incurred unless they create an asset related to 
future contract activity.

  The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred for 
work performed to date to the estimated total contract costs. When the outcome of a construction 
contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of 
contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.  An expected loss on a contract is 
recognised immediately in profi t or loss.

 (iii) Rendering of services

  Revenue from rendering of services is recognised in profi t or loss when the services are rendered.

 (iv) Rental income

  Rental income is recognised in profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  
Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the 
term of the lease.  Rental income from subleased property is recognised as other income.
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3.14 Government grants

 Unconditional government grants related to Productivity and Innovation Credit Scheme and Wage Credit 
Scheme are recognised in profi t or loss as ‘other income’ when the grants become receivable.

3.15 Lease payments

 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease 
expense, over the term of the lease.

 Minimum lease payments made under fi nance leases are apportioned between the fi nance expense 
and the reduction of the outstanding liability.  The fi nance expense is allocated to each period during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

 Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the 
remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confi rmed.

 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

 At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a 
lease.  This will be the case if the following two criteria are met:

  the fulfi lment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specifi c asset or assets; and

  the arrangement contains a right to use the assets.

 At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other 
consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on 
the basis of their relative fair values.  If the Group concludes for a fi nance lease that it is impracticable to 
separate the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the 
fair value of the underlying asset.  Subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and an 
imputed fi nance charge on the liability is recognised using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

3.16 Finance income and costs 

 Finance income comprises interest income on funds placed with banks.  Interest income is recognised as 
it accrues in profi t or loss, using the effective interest method.

 Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings.  Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in the profi t or loss 
using the effective interest method.

3.17 Tax

 Tax comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profi t or loss except 
to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income.

 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years.  The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax 
amount expected to be paid or received that refl ects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.
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3.17 Tax (Continued)

 Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for fi nancial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred tax 
is not recognised for:

  temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss;

  temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that the 
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

 The measurement of deferred taxes refl ects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 
and liabilities.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the reporting date.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, 
or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their 
tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

 A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi ts will be available against which they can be 
utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that the related tax benefi t will be realised.

 In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of 
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due.  The Group believes 
that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many 
factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.  This assessment relies on estimates and 
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events.  New information may become 
available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax 
liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is 
made.

3.18 Discontinued operation

 A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash fl ows of 
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:

  represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;

  is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations;

  is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

 Classifi cation as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria 
to be classifi ed as held for sale, if earlier.  When an operation is classifi ed as a discontinued operation, the 
comparative statement of profi t or loss is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the 
start of the comparative year.
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3.19 Earnings per share

 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares.  Basic earnings per 
share is calculated by dividing the profi t or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by 
the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares 
held.  Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profi t or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares 
held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprises convertible loan notes.

3.20 Segment reporting

 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with 
any of the Group’s other components.  All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly 
by the Group’s Chief Executive Offi cer (‘CEO’) and Group’s Executive Directors (‘GED’) to make decisions 
about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete 
fi nancial information is available.

 Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO and GED include items directly attributable to a 
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items comprise 
mainly corporate assets and tax assets and liabilities.

 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and 
equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill.

3.21 New standards and interpretations not adopted

 A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual 
periods beginning after 1 January 2016 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not 
early applied the following new or amended standards in preparing these fi nancial statements.

 Applicable to 2018 fi nancial statements 

 FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

 FRS 115 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue 
is recognised.  It also introduces new cost guidance which requires certain costs of obtaining and 
fulfi lling contracts to be recognised as separate assets when specifi ed criteria are met.

 When effective, FRS 115 replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 
11 Construction Contracts, INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes, INT FRS 115 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate, INT FRS 118 Transfers of Assets from Customers and INT FRS 31 Revenue – 
Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

 FRS 115 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption 
permitted.

 Potential impact on the fi nancial statements

 Under FRS 115, revenue is recognised over time if certain conditions are met including that the asset 
created has no alternative use to the Group and the Group has the enforceable right to payment for 
performance completed to date.  The Group is currently performing a detailed analysis of its construction 
contracts to quantify the impact on its fi nancial statements, however based on initial assessment, the 
Group does not expect the impact on the fi nancial statements to be signifi cant.

 Transition – The Group plans to adopt the standard when it becomes effective in 2018.
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 FRS 109 Financial Instruments

 FRS 109 replaces most of the existing guidance in FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.  It includes revised guidance on classifi cation and measurement of fi nancial instruments, 
a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on fi nancial assets, and new general 
hedge accounting requirements.  It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition 
of fi nancial instruments from FRS 39.

 FRS 109 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption 
permitted.

 
 Potential impact on the fi nancial statements

 Overall, the Group does not expect a signifi cant impact on its opening equity. The Group’s initial 
assessment of FRS 109 is as described below.

 Classifi cation and measurement

 The Group does not expect a signifi cant change to the measurement basis arising from adopting the 
new classifi cation and measurement model under FRS 109.

 Loans and receivables that are currently accounted for at amortised cost will continue to be accounted 
for using amortised cost model under FRS 109.

 For fi nancial assets currently held at fair value, the Group expects to continue measuring most of these 
assets at fair value under FRS 109.

 Impairment

 The Group plans to apply the simplifi ed approach and record lifetime expected impairment losses on all 
trade receivables and any contract assets arising from the application of FRS 115.  In view of the historical 
doubtful debts of the Aircon business, the Group presently does not expect a signifi cant increase in the 
impairment loss allowance upon adoption of FRS 109. The Group will continue to assess the impact of FRS 
109 adoption on other businesses of the Group.

 Transition – The Group plans to adopt the standard when it becomes effective in 2018 without restating 
comparative information.

 Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

 In addition, the Accounting Standards Council (ASC) announced on 29 May 2014 that Singapore-
incorporated companies listed on the Singapore Exchange (SGX) will apply a new fi nancial reporting 
framework identical to the International Financial Reporting Standards (referred to as SG-IFRS in these 
fi nancial statements) for the fi nancial year ending 31 December 2018 onwards.

 The Group has performed a preliminary assessment of the impact of SG-IFRS 1 First-time adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards for the transition to the new reporting framework.  Based 
on the Group’s preliminary assessment, the Group expects that the impact on adoption of SG-IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and SG-IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will be similar to adopting 
FRS 115 and FRS 109 as described in this Note.

 Other than arising from the adoption of new and revised standards, the Group does not expect to 
change its existing accounting policies on adoption of the new framework.
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 Applicable to 2019 fi nancial statements 

 FRS 116 Leases

 FRS 116 eliminates the lessee’s classifi cation of leases as either operating leases or fi nance leases and 
introduces a single lessee accounting model.  Applying the new model, a lessee is required to recognise 
right-of-use (‘ROU’) assets and lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless 
the underlying asset is of low value.

 FRS 116 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in FRS 17 Leases.  Accordingly, 
a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or fi nance leases, and to account for these 
two types of leases using the FRS 17 operating lease and fi nance lease accounting models respectively.  
However, FRS 116 requires more extensive disclosures to be provided by a lessor.

 When effective, FRS 116 replaces existing lease accounting guidance, including FRS 17, INT FRS 104 
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, INT FRS 15 Operating Leases – Incentives, and 
INT FRS 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

 FRS 116 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption 
permitted if FRS 115 is also applied.

 Potential impact on the fi nancial statements

 The Group has performed a preliminary high-level assessment of the new standard on its existing 
operating lease arrangements as a lessee (refer to Note 29).  Based on the preliminary assessment, 
the Group expects these operating leases to be recognised as ROU assets with corresponding lease 
liabilities under the new standard.  The operating lease commitments on an undiscounted basis amount 
to approximately 26% of the total assets and 39% of total liabilities of the Group.  Assuming no additional 
new operating leases in future years until the effective date, the Group expects the amount of ROU asset 
and lease liability to be lower due to discounting and as the lease terms run down.

 Transition – The Group plans to adopt the standard when it becomes effective in 2019.
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4 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Computers
$’000

Company
Cost
At 1 January 2015 6
Additions 14
At 31 December 2015 20
Additions 15
At 31 December 2016 35

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2015 1
Depreciation for the year 3
At 31 December 2015 4
Depreciation for the year 8
At 31 December 2016 12

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2015 5
At 31 December 2015 16
At 31 December 2016 23

 Impairment loss

 Majority of the impairment loss for the year relates to the renovation of Natural Cool Lifestyle hub building 
(See Note 17). The impairment loss is recorded in other expenses in profi t or loss.

 Leased assets

 During the fi nancial year, the Group acquired plant and equipment under fi nance leases amounting to 
$323,000 (2015: $217,000).  As at the reporting date, net book value of plant and equipment which were 
held under fi nance leases is as follows:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Motor vehicles 257 1,004

 Securities

 As at the reporting date, the leasehold properties are pledged as security to secure banking facilities as 
set out in Note 14.

 Sources of estimation uncertainty

 The Group and Company reviews the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment at each reporting 
date in order to determine the amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any reporting 
period.  The useful lives are based on the Group’s and Company’s historical experience with similar assets 
and taking into account anticipated technological changes and market conditions.  Changes in the 
expected level of usage and market developments could impact the economic useful lives of these 
assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.
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5 Intangible assets

Note

Goodwill 
on 

consolidation
Customer 

relationships Trademark
Computer 
software

Industrial 
certifi cates Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2015 1,879 – – 2,154 5,889 9,922
Acquisition through 
 business combinations 28 1,580 118 383 – – 2,081
Additions – – – 77 1,331 1,408
Write-offs – – – (37) – (37)
Discontinued operation 25 (1,879) – – (1,914) (7,219) (11,012)
Translation differences 
 on consolidation – – – (3) (1) (4)
At 31 December 2015 
 (Restated) 1,580 118 383 277 – 2,358
Additions 27 – – 158 – 185
Write-offs – – – (4) – (4)
At 31 December 2016 1,607 118 383 431 – 2,539

Accumulated amortisation 
 and impairment losses
At 1 January 2015 – – – 1,415 429 1,844
Amortisation for the year – – – 465 203 668
Write-offs – – – (37) – (37)
Discontinued operation 25 – – – (1,653) (632) (2,285)
Translation differences 
 on consolidation – – – (3) – (3)
At 31 December 2015 
 (Restated) – – – 187 – 187
Amortisation for the year – 6 19 61 – 86
Impairment loss 1,580 – – – – 1,580
Write-offs – – – (4) – (4)
At 31 December 2016 1,580 6 19 244 – 1,849

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2015 1,879 – – 739 5,460 8,078
At 31 December 2015 
 (Restated) 1,580 118 383 90 – 2,171
At 31 December 2016 27 112 364 187 – 690
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5 Intangible assets (Continued)

Computer 
software

$’000

Company
Cost
At 1 January 2015 –
Additions 49
At 31 December 2015 49
Additions 4
At 31 December 2016 53

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2015 –
Amortisation for the year 4
At 31 December 2015 4
Amortisation for the year 16
At 31 December 2016 20

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2015 –
At 31 December 2015 45
At 31 December 2016 33

 The amortisation charges of customer relationships, trademark and computer software are included in 
administrative expenses in profi t or loss.

 Goodwill

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operating divisions which 
represent the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes, which is not higher than the Group’s operating segments as reported in Note 27.

 Goodwill of $1,580,000 was recognised from the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Loh & Sons Paints 
Co (S) Pte Ltd in 2015 and was allocated to the Paint CGU.

 The Group reviews its goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that the 
goodwill might be impaired.

 The recoverable amount of the goodwill is determined based on the value-in-use from the operation 
of Paint CGU.  The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations cover discount rates, growth rates, 
expected gross margin and expected changes to direct costs.  These assumptions are based on past 
practices and expectations of future changes in the market.  The Group estimates discount rates using 
pre-tax rates that refl ect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to 
the Group.

 The Group prepares 5-year cash fl ows forecast derived from the most recent fi nancial budgets approved 
by the Directors of the Group.
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5 Intangible assets (Continued)

 Key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation for the year ended 31 December 2016 are as 
follows:

 - Revenue growth of 10.5% in the year ending 31 December 2017 and with 2.0% annual growth 
assumed for the subsequent years;

 - Pre-tax discount rate of 10.9% has been applied to the pre-tax cash fl ow projections; and

 - The terminal value was estimated using the cash fl ows forecast at the fi fth year with a perpetual 
growth rate of 2.0%

 The values assigned to the key assumptions, which are not greater than the industry long term growth, 
represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industry.

 Based on the above, the Paint CGU has been impaired to their value-in-use and impairment loss on 
goodwill of $1,580,000 has been recognised in other expenses in profi t or loss.

 In 2015, the recoverable amount of the goodwill was determined based on fair value less costs of 
disposal of Paint CGU which was derived from the recent purchase consideration.  The fair value 
measurement was categorised as a Level 2 fair value based on the inputs in the valuation techniques 
used (see Note 3.4).

6 Subsidiaries

Company
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity investments, at cost 6,899 6,899

 Details of signifi cant subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Principal place 
of business/ 
Country of 

incorporation
Effective equity 

held by the Group
2016 2015

% %
Held by the Company
Natural Cool Airconditioning 
 & Engineering Pte Ltd

Trading and supplying airconditioners 
and parts including the manufacturing 
of air-conditioner ducts and the 
installation, repair and maintenance 
of air-conditioners

Singapore 100 100

Natural Cool Investments 
 Pte. Ltd.

Investment holding company and 
holding of investment property

Singapore 100 100

 KPMG LLP, Singapore is the auditor of all signifi cant Singapore incorporated subsidiaries listed above.
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6 Subsidiaries (Continued)

 Sources of estimation uncertainty

 When a subsidiary is in net liability position and/or has suffered operating losses, the Company’s 
management would undertake an impairment assessment to determine the estimated recoverable 
amount.  This determination requires significant judgement.  An estimate is made of the future 
profi tability of the subsidiary, the fi nancial health of and near-term business outlook for the subsidiary, 
including factors such as industry and sector performance, and operational and fi nancing cash fl ows.  
The recoverable amount of the subsidiary could change signifi cantly as a result of changes in market 
conditions and the assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount.

7 Other investments

Group and Company
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets:
- Unquoted equity securities 3,750 3,750
Impairment loss (3,750) –

– 3,750
Financial assets designated at fair value through profi t or loss:
- Zero-coupon convertible bonds 928 2,268

928 6,018

 The zero-coupon convertible bonds (‘bonds’) are convertible in full into 240,000 ordinary shares of the 
issuer at the option of the bond holders, at US$7 per share.  Unconverted bonds will be redeemed and 
repayable by the issuer at the initial principal amount in August 2017.  The bonds have been designated 
at fair value through profi t or loss because the embedded derivative in the instrument is equity 
instrument whose fair value does not have a quoted market price and cannot be reliably measured.

 The Group and Company’s exposures to credit risks is disclosed in Note 18.

 Sources of estimation uncertainty

 When an investment has suffered operating losses and/or is operating in an industry which is facing 
challenging conditions, the Company’s management would undertake an impairment assessment to 
determine the estimated recoverable amount.  This determination requires signifi cant judgement.  An 
estimate is made of the future profi tability of the investee, the fi nancial health of and near-term business 
outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, and operational 
and fi nancing cash fl ows.  During the year, an impairment loss of $3,750,000 was recognised in other 
expenses in profi t or loss.  The recoverable amount of the investment could change signifi cantly as a 
result of changes in market conditions and the assumptions used in determining the recoverable 
amount.  Recoverable amount is determined using fair value less costs to sell method.
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8 Inventories

Group
Note 2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Finished goods 11,503 13,216
Construction contracts-in-progress 9 208 1,434

11,711 14,650

 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in the cost of sales of the Group 
amounting to $77,703,000 (2015: $67,201,000).

 Sources of estimation uncertainty

 Management reviews an ageing analysis at each reporting date, and makes allowance for obsolete 
and slow-moving inventory items that are identifi ed as obsolete and slow-moving, if any.  Management 
estimates the net realisable value for goods for resale based primarily on the latest selling prices and 
current market conditions.  As at 31 December 2016, the inventories are stated after allowance for 
inventory obsolescence of $35,000 (2015: $413,000).  Adjustments to the carrying amount of inventories 
may be made in future periods in the event that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable resulting 
from future loss events.

9 Construction contracts-in-progress

Group
Note 2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Contract costs incurred 102,980 76,203
Attributable profi ts 11,520 9,102

114,500 85,305
Progress billings (128,336) (88,132)

(13,836) (2,827)
Comprising:
Construction contracts-in-progress 8 208 1,433
Retention sum included in accrued revenue 10 6,073 4,483
Excess of progress billings over construction contracts-in-progress 16 (20,117) (8,743)

(13,836) (2,827)

 Advances for which the related work has not started, and billings in excess of costs incurred and 
recognised profi ts, are presented as excess of progress billings over construction contracts-in-progress 
(see Note 16).
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10 Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables – third parties 11,185 9,737 – –
Amounts due from subsidiaries:
- trade – – 1,751 742
- non-trade – – 9,635 6,348
Amounts due from related parties:
- trade – 86 – –
- non-trade – 28 – –
Accrued discounts receivable 854 1,874 – –
Deposits 455 6,880 – –
Other receivables 450 129 11 43

12,944 18,734 11,397 7,133
Impairment losses (467) (181) – –
Loans and receivables 12,477 18,553 11,397 7,133
Accrued revenue 6,368 5,538 – –
Prepayments 582 186 37 55

19,427 24,277 11,434 7,188

 Outstanding balances due from subsidiaries and related parties are unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable on demand.  There is no allowance for doubtful debts arising from the outstanding balances.

 Accrued revenue for the Group includes retention sum relating to construction contracts-in-progress of 
$6,073,000 (2015: $4,483,000) and completed projects of $3,000 (2015: $281,000).

 The Group and Company’s exposures to credit and currency risks, and impairment losses related to loans 
and receivables are disclosed in Note 18.

 Sources of estimation uncertainty

 The Group evaluates whether there is any objective evidence that loans and receivables are impaired, 
and determines the amount of impairment losses as a result of the customer’s inability to make 
the required payments.  The Group determines the estimates based on the ageing of the loans and 
receivables balance, credit-worthiness and historical write-off experience.  If, however, the fi nancial 
conditions of the customers were to deteriorate, actual write-offs or additional allowance for impairment 
losses would be higher than estimated.

11 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and in hand 24,516 21,889 3,080 13,364
Fixed deposits 512 15,011 – 15,000

25,028 36,900 3,080 28,364



NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2016

56NATURAL COOL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

12 Share capital

Ordinary shares
2016 2015

’000 $’000 ’000 $’000

Company
In issue at 1 January 205,448 31,957 205,448 31,957
Exercise of convertible loan notes 18,000 2,700 – –
Issued for cash 27,000 1,755 – –
In issue at 31 December 250,448 36,412 205,448 31,957

 All issued shares are fully paid, with no par value.

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are 
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.   All shares rank equally with regard to the 
Company’s residual assets.

 Issue of ordinary shares

 In May 2016, 18,000,000 ordinary shares were issued as a result of the exercise of conversion option of the 
convertible loan notes. Option was exercised at a price of $0.15 per share.

 In November 2016, the general meeting of shareholders approved the issue of 27,000,000 ordinary shares 
at an exercise price of $0.065 per share.

 Dividends

 The following exempt (one-tier) dividends were declared and paid by the Group and Company:

 For the year ended 31 December

Group and Company
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Paid by the Company to owners of the Company
S$0.075 per qualifying ordinary share 16,758 –

13 Reserves

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital reserve (3,078) (3,078) 300 300
Translation reserve (398) (367) – –

(3,476) (3,445) 300 300

 The capital reserve arises from a common control transaction accounted for using the “pooling of 
interest” method and equity component of convertible loan notes.

 The translation reserve comprises foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the fi nancial 
statements of foreign operations.
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14 Loans and borrowings

 This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to 
interest rate and liquidity risks, see Note 18.

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current liabilities
Unsecured
Term loans 574 765 – –

Secured
Bank loans 11,286 7,233 – –
Finance lease liabilities 237 556 – –

11,523 7,789 – –
Total non-current liabilities 12,097 8,554 – –

Current liabilities
Unsecured
Convertible loan notes – 2,700 – 2,700
Term loans 191 178 – –

191 2,878 – 2,700

Secured
Bank loans 763 420 – –
Term loan – 5,000 – –
Finance lease liabilities 46 175 – –

809 5,595 – –
Total current liabilities 1,000 8,473 – 2,700
Total loans and borrowings 13,097 17,027 – 2,700

 Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

2016 2015
Nominal interest rate 

per annum
Year of 

maturity
Face 
Value

Carrying 
amount

Face 
value

Carrying 
amount

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
S$ fl oating rate loans From 0.25% to 3.00% 

above prime rate
2017–2035 12,049 12,049 12,653 12,653

S$ fi xed rate term loan 3.50% 2017–2019 765 765 943 943

Finance lease liabilities 1.88% – 4.25% 2017–2022 340 283 807 731

Convertible loan notes 5.00% 2016 – – 2,700 2,700

Company
Convertible loan notes 5.00% 2016 – – 2,700 2,700
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14 Loans and borrowings (Continued)

 As at the reporting date, certain banking facilities are secured with the Group’s leasehold properties with 
net carrying amount of $17,054,000 (2015: $17,603,000).

 The Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfi lment of covenants relating to certain fi nancial 
ratios, minimum paid-up capital of its subsidiaries and minimum level of net worth by the Group and 
its subsidiaries, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with fi nancial institutions. If the Group 
and its subsidiaries were to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become repayable 
on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. As at the reporting date, 
none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been breached.

 Convertible loan notes

Group and Company
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

At 1 January 2,700 3,450
Unwinding of discount – 300
Redemption of convertible loan notes (2,700) (3,750)
Proceeds from issue of convertible loan notes – 2,700
At 31 December – 2,700

 Finance lease liabilities

 Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

 2016  2015 
Future 

minimum 
lease 

payments Interest

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments Interest

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Within 1 year 68 22 46 191 16 175
Between 1 year 
 and 5 years 272 35 237 612 60 552
More than 5 years – – – 4 – 4

340 57 283 807 76 731
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15 Deferred tax assets and liabilities (Continued)

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority. The 
amounts determined after appropriate offsetting included in the statements of fi nancial position are as 
follows:

Assets Liabilities
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Restated

Group
Property, plant and equipment – – 1,427 1,405
Deferred revenue (802) (1,023) – –
Net deferred tax (assets)/ liabilities (802) (1,023) 1,427 1,405

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Unabsorbed capital allowances 4 4 4 4
Unutilised tax losses 7,212 6,657 7,212 6,657

7,216 6,661 7,216 6,661

 The tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations 
including satisfactory outcome over changes in shareholders and the shareholding test. The tax losses 
and unabsorbed capital allowances do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have 
not been recognised by the Group and the Company in respect of these items because it is uncertain 
that future taxable profi ts will be available against which the Group and the Company can utilise the 
benefi ts therefrom.

16 Trade and other payables

Group Company
Note 2016 2015 2016 2015

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables:
- third parties 7,832 7,139 226 1,001
- subsidiaries – – – 2
Bills payable 582 5,414 – –
Excess of progress billings 
 over construction 
 contracts-in-progress 9 20,117 8,743 – –
Deposits received 647 581 – –
Deferred revenue (i) 5,441 6,913 – –
Accrued expenses (ii) 1,726 8,600 292 4,375
Other payables (ii) 461 672 – 88

36,806 38,062 518 5,466
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16 Trade and other payables (Continued)

 (i) Includes deferred revenue of $4.7 million (2015: $6.0 million) representing the excess of selling 
price over the fair value, i.e. market value at the date of disposal for the property located at 29 Tai 
Seng Avenue, Singapore 534119, which was disposed under a sale and leaseback arrangement. 
The deferred revenue is amortised on a straight-line basis over the leaseback period of 10 years. As 
at the reporting date, deferred tax assets amounting to $802,000 (2015: $1,023,000) in respect of 
the deferred revenue have been recognised.

 (ii) Includes unpaid invoices for acquisition of plant and equipment of $51,000 (2015: $755,000) and 
computer software of $88,000 (2015: $37,000).

 Outstanding balances due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

 The weighted average effective interest rate of bills payable of the Group at the end of the fi nancial year 
is 2.65% (2015: 3.07%) per annum.

 The Group and the Company’s exposures to currency and liquidity risks related to trade and other 
payables are disclosed in Note 18.

17 Provision

Onerous 
contract

$’000

Group
At 1 January 2016 –
Provision made 1,993
At 31 December 2016 1,993

Non-current 1,570
Current 423

1,993

 In 2010, the Group entered into a non-cancellable sales and leaseback transaction for its Natural Cool 
Lifestyle Hub building for a period of 10 years whereby rental expenses are committed for the leaseback 
period up to year 2020. Due to changes in market conditions, estimated rental income is expected to be 
lower than the committed rental expenses under the sales and leaseback arrangement. The discounted 
future losses have been provided for as onerous contract.

 Sources of estimation uncertainty

 Determining the estimated rental income and future related property expenses involve making 
assumptions on increase in future rental income and expenses, and changes in occupancy rates. Any 
adverse changes in the assumptions could result in the revision of the provision.

18 Financial instruments

 Overview

 The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from fi nancial instruments:

 (i) credit risk
 (ii) liquidity risk
 (iii) market risk

 This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of 
capital.
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18 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Risk management framework

 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework.

 The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the 
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to refl ect changes in market conditions and 
the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims 
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their 
rules and obligations.

 The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework 
in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by 
outsourced Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

 (i) Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of fi nancial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a fi nancial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s 
receivables from customers.

  The carrying amounts of fi nancial assets in the statements of fi nancial position represent the Group 
and the Company’s respective maximum exposures to credit risk, before taking into account any 
collateral held. The Group and the Company do not hold any collateral in respect of their fi nancial 
assets.

  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was as follows:

Group Company
Note 2016 2015 2016 2015

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other investments 7 928 6,018 928 6,018
Loans and receivables 10 12,477 18,553 11,397 7,133
Cash and cash equivalents 11 25,028 36,900 3,080 28,364
Recognised fi nancial assets 38,433 61,471 15,405 41,515
Intra-group fi nancial guarantees 30 – – 13,396 21,710

38,433 61,471 28,801 63,225

  Intra-group fi nancial guarantees

  The Group’s policy is to provide fi nancial guarantees only to subsidiaries. The maximum exposure of 
the Company in respect of the intra-group fi nancial guarantee at the reporting date is $13,396,000 
(2015: $21,710,000). At the reporting date, the Company does not consider it probable that a 
claim will be made against the Company under the intra-group fi nancial guarantees.

  Other investments

  Risk management policy

  Other investments are made through studies of different markets and their environment by the 
Directors.
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18 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Risk management framework (Continued)

 (i) Credit risk (Continued)

  Loans and receivables

  Risk management policy

  The Group’s exposure to credit risk is infl uenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, 
including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors 
may have an infl uence on credit risk. 

  The Group has policies in place to ensure sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit 
history and monitors their balances on an ongoing basis.

  The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses 
in respect of loans and receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specifi c loss 
component that relates to individually signifi cant exposures and a collective loss component 
established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not 
yet identifi ed. The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment 
statistics for similar fi nancial assets.

  Exposure to credit risk

  The maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and receivables at the reporting date by type of 
counterparty was:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Group
Commercial 3,805 10,242
Retail 291 251
Trading 8,381 7,635
Others – 425

12,477 18,553

Company
Commercial 11,397 7,095
Others – 38

11,397 7,133

  The Group’s most signifi cant receivable accounted for approximately $1,083,000 (2015: $1,021,000) 
of the loans and receivables carrying amount as at 31 December 2016.
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18 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Risk management framework (Continued)

 (i) Credit risk (Continued)

  Loans and receivables (Continued)

  Exposure to credit risk (Continued)

  The ageing of loans and receivables at the reporting date was:

Gross
Impairment 

losses Gross
Impairment 

losses
2016 2016 2015 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Not past due 7,336 – 8,431 –
Past due 0 – 30 days 2,841 – 7,387 –
Past due 31 – 120 days 1,833 (138) 2,175 –
Past due 121 – 365 days 640 (126) 310 (51)
More than one year 294 (203) 431 (130)

12,944 (467) 18,734 (181)

Company
Not past due 9,513 – 6,723 –
Past due 0 – 30 days 97 – 64 –
Past due 31 – 120 days 192 – 115 –
Past due 121 – 365 days 857 – 231 –
More than one year 738 – – –

11,397 – 7,133 –

  The movement in allowance for impairment in respect of loans and receivables during the year 
was as follows:

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

At 1 January 181 1,154
Impairment loss recognised in profi t or loss 288 362
Impairment loss utilised (2) (383)
Discontinued operation – (942)
Translation differences – (10)
At 31 December 467 181

  Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that, apart from the above, no other signifi cant 
impairment allowance is necessary. The loans and receivables are mainly from customers that 
have a good record with the Group.



NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2016

65NATURAL COOL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

18 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Risk management framework (Continued)

 (i) Credit risk (Continued)

  Loans and receivables (Continued)

  Exposure to credit risk (Continued)

  The allowance accounts in respect of loans and receivables are used to record impairment losses 
unless the Group is satisfi ed that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the 
amounts are considered irrecoverable and are written-off against the fi nancial assets directly. At 31 
December 2016, the Group and the Company do not have any collective impairment on its loans 
and receivables (2015: nil).

  Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents are held with banks and fi nancial institutions which are regulated.

 (ii) Liquidity risk

  Risk management policy

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter diffi culty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its fi nancial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another fi nancial asset. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have suffi cient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

  Typically the Group ensures that it has suffi cient cash on demand to meet expected operational 
expenses, including the servicing of fi nancial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of 
extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 

  At the reporting date, the Group maintains $4.0 million (2015: $12.4 million) of uncommitted credit 
facilities that can be drawn down to meet short-term fi nancing needs. The ability of the Group to 
renew these facilities is dependent on the Group complying with the various fi nancial covenants, 
continued support from its bankers and the operation of the Group’s key bankers not being 
adversely affected by economic uncertainties and unfavourable business developments.

  Exposure to liquidity risk

  The following are the remaining contractual maturities of fi nancial liabilities. The amounts are gross 
and undiscounted, and include contractual interest payments:

Contractual undiscounted cash fl ows
Carrying 
amount Total

Within 
1 year

Within 
2 to 5 years

More than
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
2016
Non-derivative fi nancial 
 liabilities
Variable interest rate loans 12,049 (15,987) (1,036) (6,647) (8,304)
Fixed interest rate loans 765 (862) (235) (627) –
Finance lease liabilities 283 (340) (68) (272) –
Trade and other payables* 11,248 (11,248) (11,248) – –

24,345 (28,437) (12,587) (7,546) (8,304)
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18 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Risk management framework (Continued)

 (ii) Liquidity risk (Continued)

  Exposure to liquidity risk (Continued)

Contractual undiscounted cash fl ows
Carrying 
amount Total

Within 
1 year

Within 
2 to 5 years

More than
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group (Continued)
2015
Non-derivative fi nancial
  liabilities
Variable interest rate loans 12,653 (14,394) (5,536) (2,144) (6,714)
Fixed interest rate loans 943 (1,097) (235) (862) –
Convertible loan notes 2,700 (2,835) (2,835) – –
Finance lease liabilities 731 (807) (191) (612) (4)
Trade and other payables* 22,406 (22,406) (22,406) – –

39,433 (41,539) (31,203) (3,618) (6,718)

* Exclude deferred revenue and excess of progress billings over construction contracts-in-progress

Company
2016
Non-derivative fi nancial
  liabilities
Trade and other payables 518 (518) (518) – –
Intra-group fi nancial
 guarantees – (13,396) (13,396) – –

518 (13,914) (13,914) – –

2015
Non-derivative fi nancial 
 liabilities
Convertible loan notes 2,700 (2,835) (2,835) – –
Trade and other payables 5,466 (5,466) (5,466) – –
Intra-group fi nancial
 guarantees – (21,710) (21,710) – –

8,166 (30,011) (30,011) – –

  The maturity analysis shows the contractual undiscounted cash fl ows of the Group and the 
Company’s fi nancial liabilities on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity. Except 
for the cash fl ow arising from the intra-group fi nancial guarantees, it is not expected that the cash 
fl ows included in the maturity analysis of the Group and the Company could occur signifi cantly 
earlier, or at signifi cantly different amounts.
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18 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Risk management framework (Continued)

 (iii) Market risk

  Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign currencies and interest rates 
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of fi nancial instruments. The objective 
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return.

  The Group does not use derivatives to hedge its exposure in the fl uctuations in foreign currencies 
and interest rates. 

  Foreign currency risk

  Risk management policy

  The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases, including inter-company 
sales, purchases and inter-company balances that are denominated in a currency other than the 
respective functional currencies of the Group entities. The currencies in which these transactions 
primarily are denominated are the Singapore dollar (‘SGD’) and United States dollar (‘USD’).

  Exposure to foreign currency risk

  The Group and the Company are not signifi cantly exposed to foreign currency risk.

  Interest rate risk

  Exposure to interest rate risk

  At the reporting date, the interest rate profi le of the Group’s interest-bearing fi nancial instruments, 
as reported to management, was as follows:

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Fixed rate instruments 
Loans and borrowings (1,048) (4,374)
Bills payable (582) (5,414)
Fixed deposits 512 15,011

(1,118) (5,223)

Variable rate instruments 
Loans and borrowings (12,049) (12,653)
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18 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Risk management framework (Continued)

 (iii) Market risk (Continued)

  Interest rate risk (Continued)

  Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

  A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have (decreased)/
increased profi t before tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. 

2016 2015
100 bp

increase
100 bp

decrease
100 bp

increase
100 bp

decrease
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Profi t before tax
Variable rate instruments (120) 120 (127) 127

  Capital management

  The Board’s policy is to maintain a sound capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confi dence and to sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of share 
capital, reserves, accumulated profi ts/(losses) and non-controlling interests of the Group. The 
Board of Directors monitors the return on capital which the Group defi nes as net operating income 
divided by total average shareholders’ equity excluding non-controlling interests, as well as the 
level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

  There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

  Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.
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18 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Accounting classifi cations and fair values (Continued)

 Level 3 fair value

 The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balance to the ending balance for Level 3 
fair value:

Unquoted 
equity 

securities

Zero-coupon 
convertible 

bonds
$’000 $’000

Group and Company
At 1 January 2015 3,750 2,148
Total unrealised gains recognised in profi t or loss – 120
At 31 December 2015 3,750 2,268
Total unrealised gains recognised in profi t or loss – (1,340)
Impairment loss recognised in profi t or loss (3,750) –
At 31 December 2016 – 928

19 Measurement of fair values

 A number of Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both 
fi nancial and non-fi nancial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about 
the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specifi c to that asset or liability.

 Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities

 The fair values of non-derivative fi nancial liabilities which are determined for disclosure purposes, are 
calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash fl ows, discounted at the 
market rate of interest at the reporting date. For fi nance leases, the market rate of interest is determined 
by reference to similar lease agreements.

 Other non-derivative fi nancial assets and liabilities

 The carrying amounts of other non-derivative fi nancial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than 
one year (including trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other 
payables) are assumed to approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity.
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19 Measurement of fair values (Continued)

 Other investments

 The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the Level 3 fair value as well as the 
signifi cant unobservable inputs used for other investments: 

Type Valuation technique

Signifi cant 
unobservable 

inputs

Inter-relationship 
between signifi cant 
unobservable input 

and fair value 
measurement

Group and Company

Other
investments 

The fair values of fi nancial assets designated at fair 
value through profi t or loss and available-for-sale 
investments which are not traded in active markets 
are determined using recoverable amount based 
on fair value less costs to sell.

Selling price of 
the Production 
Sharing 
Contract 
(‘PSC’)

The fair value of 
the instrument will 
increase/(decrease) 
if the selling price of 
the PSC was higher/
(lower). 

 Sensitivity analysis 

 Management considers that changing the signifi cant unobservable inputs used to other reasonably 
possible alternative assumptions would not result in a signifi cant change in the estimated fair value.

20 Revenue

Continuing operations
Discontinued operation 

(see Note 25) Consolidated
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Sale of goods 73,332 64,631 – 45,350 73,332 109,981
Revenue from
 construction 
 contracts 46,900 36,451 – – 46,900 36,451
Revenue from
 services
 rendered 5,287 5,091 – – 5,287 5,091
Rental income 3,451 2,805 – – 3,451 2,805

128,970 108,978 – 45,350 128,970 154,328

 Sources of estimation uncertainty

 Revenue and profi t recognition on projects are dependent on estimating the eventual outcome of the 
construction contract, as well as work done to date. Actual outcome in terms of total costs or revenue 
may be higher or lower than estimated at the reporting date, which would affect the revenue and profi t 
recognised in future years. As at the reporting date, management considered that all costs to complete 
and revenue can be reliably estimated.
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21 Other income

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Bad debts written back – 5
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 173 –
Government grants 439 269
Interest income 160 20
Maintenance service income 144 61
Rental income 16 66
Reversal of payables 453 –
Others 300 205

1,685 626

22 Finance costs

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Interest expenses:
- bank loans 496 442
- convertible loan notes 54 410
- fi nance leases 44 34

594 886

23 Tax (credit)/expense

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Current tax (credit)/expense
Current year 11 90
Overprovision in respect of prior years (41) (27)

(30) 63
Deferred tax expense/(credit)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 90 (15)
Overprovision in respect of prior years (68) (32)

22 (47)
Tax expense on continuing operations (8) 16

 In 2015, tax expense on continuing operations excludes the tax credit from discontinued operation 
of $180,000, which has been included in “profi t from discontinued operation, net of tax’ in the income 
statement (see Note 25).
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23 Tax (credit)/expense (Continued)

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Loss before tax (11,238) (3,501)

Tax using Singapore tax rate at 17% (2015: 17%) (1,910) (595)
Effect of different tax rates in other countries (19) (25)
Tax exempt income and tax incentives under Productivity and 
 Innovation Credit scheme (291) (124)
Singapore statutory stepped income exemption (23) (38)
Non-deductible expenses 2,250 658
Effect of previously unrecognised tax losses – (13)
Under/(Over) provision in respect of prior years (109) (59)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 94 212

(8) 16

24 (Loss)/Profi t for the year

 The following items have been included in arriving at (loss)/profi t for the year:

Group
Note 2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Amortisation of deferred revenue (1,300) (1,300)
Amortisation of intangible assets 5 86 668
Allowance for inventory obsolescence 43 439
Audit fees paid to:
- auditors of the Company 230 217
- other auditors 7 7
Non-audit fees paid to auditors of the Company 26 24
Bad debts written-off 168 86
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 1,633 2,837
Foreign exchange loss – net 33 1,040
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 443
Operating lease expenses 5,844 4,516
Plant and equipment written-off 9 34
Staff costs 13,876 27,606
Contributions to defi ned contribution plans, included in staff costs 803 1,266

Included in other expenses are:
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investment 3,750 –
Impairment loss on goodwill 1,580 –
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 288 362
Impairment loss on plant and equipment 955 –
Net change in fair value of zero-coupon convertible bonds 1,340 (120)
Provision for onerous contract 17 1,993 –
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25 Discontinued operation

 On 30 November 2015, the Group sold its entire Switchgear segment.

Group
2015
$’000

Results of discontinued operation
Revenue 45,350
Expenses (51,059)
Results from operating activities (5,709)
Tax credit 180
Results from operating activities, net of tax (5,529)
Gain on sale of discontinued operation 15,517
Profi t for the year 9,988

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)  4.86

 Profi t for the year from discontinued operation of $9,988,000 was attributable entirely to the owners 
of the Company. Of the loss from continuing operations of $3,517,000, an amount of $3,493,000 was 
attributable to the owners of the Company.

Group
2015
$’000

Cash fl ows (used in)/from discontinued operation
Net cash (used in) operating activities (674)
Net cash (used in) investing activities (830)
Net cash from fi nancing activities 489
Net cash fl ows for the year (1,015)

 Effect of disposal on the fi nancial position of the Group

Note 2015
$’000

Property, plant and equipment 4 (7,747)
Intangible assets 5 (8,727)
Other investment (62)
Deferred tax assets 15 (262)
Inventories (7,742)
Trade and other receivables (19,297)
Cash and cash equivalents (1,702)
Trade and other payables 22,400
Loans and borrowings 5,528
Deferred tax liabilities 15 22
Non-controlling interests 194
Foreign currency translation reserve (636)
Net assets and liabilities (18,031)

Consideration received, satisfi ed in cash 33,548
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (1,702)
Net cash infl ow 31,846



NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2016

76NATURAL COOL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

26 (Loss)/Earnings per share

 Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

 The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share was based on weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding of 219,120,000 (2015: 205,448,000), calculated as follows:

 Profi t attributable to ordinary shareholders

2016 2015
Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operation Total

Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operation Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Net (loss)/profi t 
 attributable to ordinary 
 shareholders (11,194) – (11,194) (3,493) 9,988 6,495

 Weighted-average number of ordinary shares

2016 2015
Note ‘000 ‘000

Group
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 12 205,448 205,448
Effect of convertible loan option exercised 10,869 –
Effect of shares issued in November 2016 2,803 –
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares during the year 219,120 205,448

 In 2015, 18,000,000 options are excluded from the diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares 
calculation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

 The Company does not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence for the current year.

 The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share 
options was based on quoted market prices for the period during which the options were outstanding.

27 Operating segments

 The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business 
units. The strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately 
because they require different technology and marketing strategies. For each of the strategic business 
units, the Group’s Chief Executive Offi cer (‘CEO’) and Group’s Executive Directors (‘GED’) review internal 
management reports on at least a quarterly basis. The following summary describes the operations in 
each Group’s reportable segments:

 Air-conditioning : trading of air-conditioners, air-condition components, systems and units,
 (Aircon)  air-condition installation, servicing and re-conditioning.

 Investment : properties investment holding.

 Paint : manufacturing and distribution of paints and chemicals.
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27 Operating segments (Continued)

 Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is 
measured based on segment profi t before income tax, as included in the internal management reports 
review by the CEO and GED. Segment profi t before income tax is used to measure performance as 
management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain 
segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

 Information about reportable segments

Aircon
Switchgear

(Discontinued) Investment Paint Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue and expenses
2016
Total revenue from external customers 121,521 – 3,911 3,538 128,970
Inter-segment revenue 32 – 548 3 583
Total revenue of reportable segments 121,553 – 4,459 3,541 129,553

Finance income 23 – – 11 34
Finance costs 327 – – 213 540
Depreciation and amortisation 897 – 418 381 1,696
Reportable segment profi t/(loss) 
 before tax 2,271 – (4,658) (2,542) (4,929)

Other material non-cash items:
- Allowance for inventory obsolescence 43 – – – 43
- Amortisation of deferred revenue – – (1,300) – (1,300)
- Bad debts written-off 148 – 20 – 168
- Impairment loss on goodwill – – – 1,580 1,580
- Impairment loss on trade and 
 other receivables - net 107 – 97 84 288
- Impairment loss on plant and
 equipment – – 687 268 955
- Provision for onerous contract – – 1,993 – 1,993
Reportable segment assets 58,687 – 10,283 9,813 78,783
Capital expenditure 748 – 344 1,138 2,230
Reportable segment liabilities 38,298 – 16,044 7,246 61,588

Revenue and expenses
2015 (Restated)
External revenue 104,445 45,350 3,323 1,210 154,328
Inter-segment revenue 60 110 1,094 – 1,264
Total revenue of reportable segments 104,505 45,460 4,417 1,210 155,592

Finance income 13 5 2 – 20
Finance costs 412 519 42 21 994
Depreciation and amortisation 1,246 1,881 355 15 3,497
Reportable segment profi t/(loss) 
 before tax 1,020 9,808 (1,891) 192 9,129

Other material non-cash items:
- Allowance for inventory obsolescence 413 26 – – 439
- Amortisation of deferred revenue – – (1,300) – (1,300)
- Bad debts written-off 36 16 34 – 86
- Loss on disposal of property, 
  plant and equipment 443 – – – 443
- Impairment loss on trade and 
  other receivables - net 120 242 – – 362
Reportable segment assets 53,308 – 11,418 8,986 73,712
Capital expenditure 929 2,341 431 225 3,926
Reportable segment liabilities 35,269 – 17,639 2,473 55,381
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27 Operating segments (Continued)

 Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profi t or loss, assets and liabilities and other material 
items

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Restated

Revenue
Total revenue for reportable segments 129,553 155,592
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (583) (1,264)
Elimination of discontinued operation – (45,350)
Consolidated revenue 128,970 108,978

Profi t or loss before tax
Total (loss)/profi t before tax for reportable segments (4,929) 9,129
Other losses (6,309) (2,823)

(11,238) 6,306
Elimination of discontinued operation – (9,807)
Consolidated loss before tax (11,238) (3,501)

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 78,783 73,712
Other assets 4,029 35,328
Elimination of inter-segment assets (2,714) (1,934)
Consolidated total assets 80,098 107,106

Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 61,588 55,381
Other liabilities 523 6,936
Elimination of inter-segment liabilities (7,973) (4,709)
Consolidated total liabilities 54,138 57,608

 Other material items

Reportable 
segment 

totals Adjustments
Consolidated 

totals
$’000 $’000 $’000

2016
Finance income 34 126 160
Finance costs 540 54 594
Depreciation and amortisation 1,696 23 1,719
Allowance for inventory obsolescence 43 – 43
Amortisation of deferred revenue (1,300) – (1,300)
Bad debts written-off 168 – 168
Impairment loss on goodwill 1,580 – 1,580
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables - net 288 – 288
Impairment loss on plant and equipment 955 – 955
Provision for onerous contract 1,993 – 1,993
Capital expenditure 2,230 18 2,248
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27 Operating segments (Continued)

 Other material items (Continued)

Reportable 
segment 

totals Adjustments
Consolidated 

totals
$’000 $’000 $’000

2015 (Restated)
Finance income 20 5 25
Finance costs 994 411 1,405
Depreciation and amortisation 3,497 8 3,505
Allowance for inventory obsolescence 439 – 439
Amortisation of deferred revenue (1,300) – (1,300)
Bad debts written-off 86 – 86
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 443 – 443
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables - net 362 – 362
Capital expenditure 3,926 6,051 9,977

 Geographical information

 Geographical segments are analysed by three principal geographical areas: Singapore, Malaysia and 
other countries.

 In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on a 
geographical location of customers. Segment non-current assets are based on the geographical 
location of the assets.

Revenue
Non-current 

assets*
$’000 $’000

31 December 2016
Singapore 127,718 23,023
Malaysia 1,252 107

128,970 23,130

31 December 2015 (Restated)
Singapore 149,544 30,256
Malaysia 3,886 –
Other countries** 898 –
Switchgear (discontinued) (45,350) –

108,978 30,256

 * Non-current assets consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and other investments.
 ** Other countries include Sir Lanka, Hong Kong, Thailand, Vietnam, Indonesia, India, etc.

 Major customer

 Revenue from one customer of the Group’s Aircon segment represents approximately $18,930,000 (2015: 
$4,212,000) of the Group’s total revenue.
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28 Acquisition of subsidiary

 On 1 September 2015, the Group completed its acquisition of 100% equity interest in Loh & Sons Paints 
Co (S) Pte Ltd (‘L&S’), obtaining control of L&S.

 In the four months to 31 December 2015, L&S contributed revenue of $1,210,000 and profi t after tax 
of $106,000 to the Group’s results. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2015, management 
estimates that consolidated revenue would have been $111,510,000 and consolidated loss from 
continuing operations for the year would have been $2,850,000. In determining these amounts, 
management has assumed that the fair value adjustments, determined provisionally, that arose on the 
date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2015.

 Following the completion of the fi nal purchase price allocation during the fi nancial year, the Group 
made adjustments to the provisional fair value originally recorded in the prior year. Accordingly, the 
comparatives are restated. There is no impact on (loss)/earnings per share.

 The effect of the adjustments made during the 12-month period from acquisition date (the ‘Window 
Period’) is set out below:

Note

Fair values 
recognised 

on 
acquisition

Adjustments 
during 

Window 
Period Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment 4 6,024 – 6,024
Inventories 317 – 317
Deferred tax liabilities 15 – (1,105) (1,105)
Total identifi able net assets 6,341 (1,105) 5,236

Intangible assets
- Goodwill 5 976 604 1,580
- Customer relationships 5 – 118 118
- Trademark 5 – 383 383
Total 976 1,105 2,081

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 7,317 – 7,317

 The Group incurred acquisition related costs of $258,000 on legal fees and due diligence costs in 2015. 
These costs have been included in ‘administrative expenses’.

 In 2016, the Group acquired 75% equity interests in Natural Cool Distribution (JB) Sdn. Bhd., through its 
wholly owned subsidiary Natural Cool Airconditioning & Engineering Pte Ltd, for cash consideration of 
$103,000 and recorded a goodwill of $27,000. As the impact on the Group is not signifi cant, no further 
disclosure has been made.

 Measurement of fair values

 The valuation technique used for measuring the fair value of material assets acquired was as follow:

Asset acquired Valuation technique

Property, plant and equipment Market comparison technique and cost technique: The valuation 
model considers quoted market prices for similar items when they 
are available, and depreciated replacement cost when appropriate. 
Depreciated replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical 
deterioration as well as functional and economic obsolescence.
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29 Operating leases

 Leases as lessee

 Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Within one year 5,998 5,793
Between one and fi ve years 15,184 20,392

21,182 26,185

 The Group leases a number of offi ce space, hostel facilities and warehouse under operating leases. The 
leases typically run for a period of 1 to 10 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease 
payments are usually increased upon renewal to refl ect market rentals. There is no contingent rental.

 Leases as lessor

 The Group’s leased properties are subleased to external customers. The lease contain an initial non-
cancellable period of 1 year to 3 years. Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the lessees at market 
rates. None of the leases include contingent rentals.

 The future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable leases are as follows:

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Within one year 2,640 3,196
Between one and fi ve years 2,054 1,206

4,694 4,402

30 Contingencies

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Corporate guarantees
Banking facilities for subsidiaries – – 13,396 21,710

 Intra-group fi nancial guarantees as disclosed above will expire when the loans have been paid and 
discharged and/or when the banking facilities are no longer available to the subsidiaries, delivery 
of contracts with customers and suppliers. These fi nancial guarantee contracts are accounted for as 
insurance contracts. 

 The principal risk to which the Company is exposed is the credit risk in connection with the guarantee 
contracts it has issued. The credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised upon a default by the 
subsidiary to which the guarantee was given for the benefi t of. 

 There are no terms and conditions attached to the guarantee contract that would have a material effect 
on the amount, timing and uncertainty of the Company’s future cash fl ows.
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30 Contingencies (Continued)

 The intra-group fi nancial guarantee is eliminated in preparing the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 Estimates of the Company’s obligation arising from the fi nancial guarantee contracts may be affected 
by future events, which cannot be predicted with certainty. The assumptions made may well vary from 
actual experience so that the actual liability may vary considerably from the best estimates. As at the 
reporting date, there is no provision made in respect of the obligation.

 Continuing fi nancial support

 The Company has given formal undertakings, which are unsecured, to provide fi nancial support to its 
subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2016, the net current liabilities of these subsidiaries amounted to 
approximately $6,423,000 (2015: $4,072,000).

31 Related parties

 Key management personnel compensation

 Key management personnel of the Group and the Company are those persons having the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. The Directors and senior 
management staff of the Group and the Company are considered as key management personnel.

 Key management personnel compensation, included in staff costs comprised:

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefi ts 3,513 8,130
Post-employment benefi ts 87 133

3,600 8,263

 Included in key management personnel compensation is Directors’ remuneration of the Company of 
$2,333,000 (2015: $4,897,000).

 Key management personnel and Director transactions

 A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that 
result in them having control or signifi cant infl uence over the fi nancial or operating policies of these 
entities.

 A number of these entities transacted with the Group during the year. The terms and conditions of the 
transactions with key management personnel and their related parties were no more favourable than 
those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-
key management personnel related entities on an arm’s length basis.

 From time to time, Directors of the Group, or their related entities, may purchase goods from the Group. 
These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Group employees 
or customers.
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31 Related parties (Continued)

 Other related party transactions

Group
2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Related parties
Sale of goods (275) (241)
Purchase of goods – 597

32 Internal investigation involving the Paint Segment

 In February 2017, the Board formed an internal investigation committee to review the alleged irregular 
transactions and activities entered into and conducted by certain subsidiaries in the Paint segment. 
These transactions and activities relate mainly to companies set up by employees (including persons 
that may be connected to the Company’s former Directors) to operate a competing business using the 
assets and resources of these subsidiaries, and the incurrence and payment of unsupported expenses. 

 As at the date of this report, the investigation is still in progress. Accordingly, the Board is unable 
to quantify the actual fi nancial impact, if any, on the Group’s results for the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2016.

33 Subsequent event

 Claim by an ex-employee

 In March 2017, the Company has received a claim from a former employee who is seeking damages 
in the sum of approximately $2.5 million against the Company for alleged wrongful termination of his 
service agreement with the Company in February 2017. No legal proceedings have been commenced 
against the Company. The Company is of the opinion that there are no merits to the claim and is seeking 
formal legal advice to deny and challenge the demand made.
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 s
ta

te
 t

h
e

 r
e

a
so

n
s 

fo
r 

th
e

 
d

e
vi

a
tio

n
 

a
n

d
 

th
e

 
re

m
e

d
ia

l 
a

c
tio

n
 t

a
ke

n
 b

y 
th

e
 

C
o

m
p

a
ny

. 

G
u

id
e

lin
e

 2
.1

 o
f t

h
e

 C
o

d
e

 is
 m

e
t 

a
s 

th
e

 In
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t 

D
ire

c
to

rs
 m

a
ke

 u
p

 3
/5

 o
f t

h
e

 B
o

a
rd

.

Th
e

 B
o

a
rd

 b
e

lie
ve

s 
th

e
re

 i
s 

a
 s

tr
o

n
g

 e
le

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
c

e
 i

n
 t

h
e

 B
o

a
rd

, 
a

n
d

 t
h

a
t 

n
o

 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
l 

o
r 

sm
a

ll 
g

ro
u

p
 o

f 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 d
o

m
in

a
te

s 
th

e
 B

o
a

rd
’s

 d
e

c
is

io
n

 m
a

ki
n

g
. 

Th
e

 B
o

a
rd

 
ex

e
rc

is
e

s 
in

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
ju

d
g

m
e

n
t 

o
n

 c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 a
ffa

irs
 a

n
d

 p
ro

vi
d

e
s 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

w
ith

 a
 d

iv
e

rs
e

, 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
a

l a
n

d
 o

b
je

c
tiv

e
 p

e
rs

p
e

c
tiv

e
 o

n
 is

su
e

s. 
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n

c
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r 

Ex
p

la
n

a
tio

n

2.
3

4.
3

H
a

s 
th

e
 in

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

c
e

 o
f  

th
e

 
In

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
D

ire
c

to
rs

 b
e

e
n

 
re

vi
e

w
e

d
 i

n
 t

h
e

 l
a

st
 fi

 n
a

n
c

ia
l 

ye
a

r?

Th
e

 N
C

 h
a

s 
re

vi
e

w
e

d
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
fir

m
e

d
 t

h
e

 i
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

c
e

 o
f 

th
e

 I
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
D

ire
c

to
rs

 i
n

 
a

c
c

o
rd

a
n

c
e

 w
ith

 t
h

e
 C

o
d

e
. T

h
e

 In
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t 

D
ire

c
to

rs
 h

a
ve

 a
ls

o
 c

o
n

fi r
m

e
d

 t
h

e
ir 

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
c

e
 

in
 a

c
c

o
rd

a
n

c
e

 w
ith

 t
h

e
 C

o
d

e
.  

(a
) 

Is
 

th
e

re
 

a
n

y 
D

ire
c

to
r 

w
h

o
 i

s 
d

e
e

m
e

d
 t

o
 b

e
 

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t 

b
y 

th
e

 
Bo

a
rd

, 
n

o
tw

ith
st

a
n

d
in

g
 

th
e

 
e

xi
st

e
n

c
e

 
o

f 
a

 
re

la
ti

o
n

sh
ip

 
a

s 
st

a
te

d
 

in
 

th
e

 
C

o
d

e
 

th
a

t 
w

o
u

ld
 

o
th

e
rw

is
e

 
d

e
e

m
 

h
im

 
n

o
t 

to
 

b
e

 
in

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t?
 

If
 

so
, 

p
le

a
se

 
id

e
n

ti
fy

 
th

e
 

D
ire

c
to

r 
a

n
d

 
sp

e
c

ify
 

th
e

 
n

a
tu

re
 

o
f 

su
c

h
 

re
la

tio
n

sh
ip

.

M
r 

G
o

h
 T

e
c

k 
Si

a
, 

th
e

 I
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
N

o
n

-E
xe

c
u

tiv
e

 C
h

a
irm

a
n

 o
f 

th
e

 C
o

m
p

a
n

y,
 h

a
d

 b
e

e
n

 
a

p
p

o
in

te
d

 a
s 

a
n

 a
d

vi
so

r 
to

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y 

o
n

 2
0 

M
a

rc
h

 2
01

7,
 w

ith
 s

p
e

c
ifi

c
 a

n
d

 a
d

-h
o

c
 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
tie

s 
to

 a
d

vi
se

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y 

o
n

, 
in

te
r 

a
lia

, 
la

w
 e

n
fo

rc
e

m
e

n
t 

m
a

tt
e

rs
 a

ris
in

g
 f
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m

 
a

m
o

n
g

st
 o

th
e

r 
th

in
g

s,
 t

h
e

 i
n

te
rn

a
l 

in
ve

st
ig

a
tio

n
 r

e
vi

e
w

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
d
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y 

th
e
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u

d
it 

C
o

m
m

itt
e

e
 

w
h

ic
h
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s 

c
u

rr
e

n
tly

 s
til

l 
o

n
-g

o
in

g
, 

a
n

d
 o

th
e

r 
c

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 
se

c
u

rit
y 

m
a

tt
e

rs
 o

f 
th

e
 G

ro
u

p
. 

M
r 

G
o

h
 

h
a

s 
c

o
n

fi r
m

e
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 t
h

a
t 

h
is
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p

p
o

in
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e
n

t 
a

s 
a

n
 a

d
vi

so
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 t

h
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 C
o
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p

a
n

y 
w

ill
 n

o
t 

p
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d
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e
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in

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

c
y 
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s 
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n

 In
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t 

D
ire

c
to

r 
o

f 
th

e
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o
m

p
a

ny
 a

n
d

 h
e

 h
a

s 
a
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o

 c
o

n
fi r

m
e

d
 t

h
a

t 
h

e
 

re
m

a
in

s 
in

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
in

 a
c

c
o

rd
a

n
c

e
 w

ith
 G

u
id

e
lin

e
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.3
 o

f t
h

e
 C

o
d

e
. 

(b
) 

W
h

a
t 

a
re

 
th

e
 

Bo
a

rd
’s

 
re

a
so

n
s 

fo
r 

c
o

n
si

d
e

rin
g

 
h

im
 

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t?

 
P

le
a

se
 

p
ro

vi
d

e
 

a
 

d
e

ta
ile

d
 e

xp
la

n
a

tio
n

.

Th
e

 B
o

a
rd

 (
w

ith
 t

h
e

 e
xc

e
p

tio
n

 o
f 

M
r 

G
o

h
) 

h
a

ve
 t

a
ke

n
 i

n
to

 c
o

n
si

d
e

ra
tio

n
 t

h
e
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e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

tio
n

 
fro

m
 t

h
e
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o

m
in

a
tin

g
 C

o
m

m
itt

e
e
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n

d
 h

a
d

 c
o

n
si

d
e

re
d

 M
r 

G
o

h
 t

o
 b

e
 i

n
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t 

m
a

in
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 d
u

e
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 a

m
o

n
g

st
 o

th
e

r 
th

in
g

s,
 t

h
e

 a
d

-h
o

c
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
M

r 
G

o
h

’s
 r

e
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
tie

s,
 t

h
e

 s
p

e
c

ifi 
c

 s
ki

lls
 a

n
d

 
kn

o
w

le
d

g
e

 t
h

a
t 

M
r 

G
o

h
 p

o
ss

e
ss

e
s, 

th
e

 t
e
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s 

o
f 

h
is
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p

p
o

in
tm

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 p

rin
c

ip
le

s 
e

n
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rin
e

d
 in

 
G

u
id

e
lin

e
 2

.3
(d

) 
o

f t
h

e
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o
d

e
.

2.
4

H
a

s 
a

n
y

 
In

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
D

ire
c

to
r 

se
rv

e
d

 o
n

 t
h

e
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o
a

rd
 

fo
r 

m
o

re
 

th
a

n
 

n
in

e
 

ye
a

rs
 

si
n

c
e

 
th

e
 

d
a

te
 

o
f 

h
is

 
fir

st
 

a
p

p
o

in
tm

e
n

t?
 

If 
so

, 
p

le
a

se
 

id
e

n
tif

y 
th

e
 D

ire
c

to
r 

a
n

d
 s

e
t 

o
u

t 
th

e
 

Bo
a

rd
’s

 
re

a
so

n
s 

fo
r 

c
o

n
si

d
e

rin
g

 h
im

 in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t. 

Th
e

re
 a

re
 n

o
 In

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
D

ire
c

to
r 

th
a

t 
h

a
d

 s
e

rv
e

d
 o

n
 t

h
e

 B
o

a
rd

 fo
r 

m
o

re
 t

h
a

n
 n

in
e

 y
e

a
rs

. 
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b
y 

th
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B

o
a

rd
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g
re
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e
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 r
e
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 t
h
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o
a
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p

o
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n

?

Th
e

 B
o

a
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s 

o
f 

th
e
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p

in
io

n
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h
a

t 
it 

w
o

u
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e
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c
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 d
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h
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f 
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e
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n
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g
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g
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ire
c

to
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h
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 c
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u
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n
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a
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n

g
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g
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iv
e

 s
te

p
s 

to
 r

e
vi

e
w

 a
n

d
 

c
o

n
si

d
e

r 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n
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e
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 t

h
e

 B
o

a
rd
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s 

a
n

d
 w

h
e

n
 d

e
e

m
e

d
 re

q
u

ire
d

. 

Th
e

 
Bo

a
rd

 
w

o
u

ld
 

c
o

n
d

u
c

t 
re

g
u

la
r 

re
vi

e
w

s 
o

n
 

its
 

e
xi

st
in

g
 

c
o

m
p

e
te

n
c

ie
s 

w
h

ic
h

 
in

c
lu

d
e

s 
c

o
n

si
d

e
rin

g
 f

a
c

to
rs

 s
u

c
h

 a
s 

th
e

 e
xp

e
rt

is
e

, s
ki

lls
 a

n
d

 p
e

rs
p

e
c

tiv
e

s 
so

 a
s 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 B

o
a

rd
 

d
yn

a
m

ic
s 

re
m

a
in

 o
p

tim
a

l t
o

 m
e

e
t 

c
h

a
n

g
in

g
 c

h
a

lle
n

g
e

s 
in

 t
h

e
 In

d
u

st
ry

 a
n

d
 in

 c
o

u
n

tr
ie

s 
su

c
h

 a
s 

Si
n

g
a

p
o

re
 a

n
d

 M
a

la
ys

ia
 w

h
ic

h
 t

h
e

 G
ro

u
p

 o
p

e
ra

te
s 

in
.

2.
6

(a
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W
h

a
t 

is
 

th
e

 
B

o
a

rd
’s

 
p

o
lic
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w

ith
 

re
g

a
rd
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d
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e
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ity
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e
n

tif
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n
g

 
D

ire
c
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r 

n
o

m
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e
e
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(b
) 

P
le

a
s

e
 

s
ta
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w
h

e
th

e
r 
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e

 
c

u
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e
n

t 
c

o
m

p
o

s
it
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n

 
o

f 
th

e
 

B
o

a
rd

 
p
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d
e

s 
d

iv
e
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o

n
 

e
a

c
h

 
o

f 
th

e
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 

– 
sk

ill
s,

 
e

xp
e

ri
e

n
c

e
, 

g
e

n
d

e
r 

a
n

d
 

k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e

 
o

f 
th

e
 

C
o

m
p

a
n

y,
 

a
n

d
 

e
la

b
o

ra
te

 
w

it
h

 
n

u
m

e
ric

a
l 

d
a

ta
 w

h
e

re
 

a
p

p
ro

p
ria

te
.

Th
e

 B
o

a
rd

’s
 p

o
lic

y 
in

 i
d

e
n

tif
yi

n
g

 D
ire

c
to

r 
n

o
m

in
e

e
s 

is
 p

rim
a

ril
y 

to
 h

a
ve

 a
n

 a
p

p
ro

p
ria

te
 m

ix
 

o
f 

m
e

m
b

e
rs

 w
ith

 c
o

m
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ry

 s
ki

lls
, 

c
o

re
 c

o
m

p
e

te
n

c
ie

s 
a

n
d

 e
xp

e
rie

n
c

e
 f

o
r 

th
e

 G
ro

u
p

, 
re

g
a

rd
le

ss
 o

f g
e

n
d

e
r. 

Th
e

 c
u

rr
e

n
t 

Bo
a

rd
 c

o
m

p
o

si
tio

n
 p

ro
vi

d
e

s 
a

 d
iv

e
rs

ity
 o

f 
sk

ill
s,

 e
xp

e
rie

n
c

e
 a

n
d

 k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

C
o

m
p

a
ny

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

Ta
b

le
 2

.6
 –

 B
a

la
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 D

iv
e

rs
ity

 o
f t

h
e

 B
o

a
rd

 
N

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
D

ire
c

to
rs

Pr
o

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
Bo

a
rd

 (
%

)

C
o

re
 C

o
m

p
e

te
n

c
ie

s

– 
A

c
c

o
u

n
tin

g
 o

r 
fi n

a
n

c
e

2
40

– 
Bu

si
n

e
ss

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

5
10

0

– 
Le

g
a

l o
r 

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 g
o

ve
rn

a
n

c
e

3
60

– 
Re

le
va

n
t 

in
d

u
st

ry
 k

n
o

w
le

d
g

e
 o

r 
ex

p
e

rie
n

c
e

 
1

20

– 
St

ra
te

g
ic

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 e
xp

e
rie

n
c

e
5

10
0

– 
C

u
st

o
m

e
r 

b
a

se
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xp

e
rie

n
c

e
 o

r 
kn

o
w

le
d

g
e

2
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(c
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W
h

a
t 

st
e

p
s 

h
a

ve
 

th
e

 
Bo

a
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 t
a

ke
n

 t
o
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c

h
ie

ve
 

th
e

 
b

a
la

n
c

e
 

a
n

d
 

d
iv

e
rs

it
y 

n
e

c
e

ss
a
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to
 

m
a
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m

is
e

 
it

s 
e
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c

tiv
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n
e

ss
?

Th
e

 B
o

a
rd

 h
a
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ta

ke
n

 t
h

e
 fo
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w
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g

 s
te

p
s 

to
 m

a
in

ta
in

 o
r 

e
n

h
a

n
c

e
 it

s 
b

a
la

n
c

e
 a

n
d

 d
iv

e
rs

ity
:


 

A
n

n
u

a
l r

ev
ie

w
 b

y 
th

e
 N

C
 t

o
 a

ss
e

ss
 if

 t
h

e
 e

xi
st

in
g

 a
tt

rib
u

te
s 

a
n

d
 c

o
re

 c
o

m
p

e
te

n
c

ie
s 

o
f 

th
e

 
Bo

a
rd

 a
re

 c
o

m
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ry

 a
n

d
 e

n
h

a
n

c
e

 t
h

e
 e

ffi 
c

a
c

y 
o

f t
h

e
 B

o
a

rd
; a

n
d


 

A
n

n
u

a
l e

va
lu

a
tio

n
 b

y 
th

e
 D

ire
c

to
rs

 o
f t

h
e

 s
ki

ll 
se

ts
 t

h
e

 o
th

e
r 

D
ire

c
to

rs
 p

o
ss

e
ss

, w
ith

 a
 v

ie
w

 to
 

u
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

 t
h

e
 ra

n
g

e
 o

f e
xp

e
rt

is
e

 w
h

ic
h

 is
 la

c
ki

n
g

 b
y 
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Business Risk

In our Aircon Division, we install and service air-conditioning systems for our customers. These activities have 
minimum barriers to entry. In order to differentiate ourselves and diversify our business risk for our air-conditioning 
business unit, we operate in both the retail and commercial markets. 

In addition, with our  expertise, resources and track record, we are able to pitch for bigger projects at more 
competitive bids, and to provide a better range of products and services from design and planning, 
air-conditioning systems installation, electrical wirings, for residential and commercial properties, to after sales 
services.

Operational Risk

Operational risk refers to the loss incurred by our Group due to operational failures arising from a breakdown in 
internal process, defi ciencies in people and management. The Group engages external consultants to review 
our internal processes and controls on a yearly basis to ensure that our operations processes and controls are 
working effectively. The quality management systems which encompass the entire manufacturing process for 
our air-conditioning business unit are also subject to annual audit by an ISO 9000:2000 accreditation body. 

We have engaged professionals to assist our human resource personnel to improve on our annual 
performance appraisal system as well as establishing a training roadmap for all our staff. Remuneration for 
our staff is also reviewed periodically to ensure that the remuneration package offered by the Group remains 
competitive.

Project Risk

Delays in the completion of our Commercial business projects may occur due to unforeseen circumstances. If 
such delay in the completion of our projects is attributable to us, we will be liable for liquidated damages which 
will materially and adversely affect our fi nancial position and performance. 

To mitigate this risk, project meetings are held periodically to update management on the progress of all on-
going projects. Contract-in-progress is monitored closely by the management to avoid the situation of cost 
overrun. In the event that management perceives a potential delay in a project, we immediately alert the main 
contractor. A revised project completion date will be negotiated subsequently. 

Half-yearly Group performance reports are also presented to the Board of Directors for their review and 
comments.

Investment Risk

The businesses of our Group may be expanded through organic growth of our activities and through 
acquisitions of operating business entities. Investment activities are evaluated through performance of 
due diligence exercises and are supported by advice from external professionals. All business proposals are 
reviewed by the Company’s Executive Directors and senior management before obtaining fi nal approval from 
the Board.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The foreign exchange risk of the Group arises from sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in 
foreign currencies. The currencies giving rise to the risk are US dollars  and Ringgit Malaysia. While the Group 
does not have any formal hedging policies against foreign exchange fl uctuation, we continuously monitor the 
exchange rates of the major currencies.



RISK MANAGEMENT
POLICIES AND PROCESSES

114NATURAL COOL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Credit Risk

Credit risk is managed through the application of credit approvals, setting credit limits and monitoring 
procedures. Our cash balances are placed with banks and regulated fi nancial institutions. It is our Group’s 
policy to sell to a diverse credit worthy customer base so as to mitigate our credit risk. Cash terms and/or 
advance payments are required for customers with lower credit rating. 

While the Group faces normal business risks associated with ageing collections, we adopt the policy of making 
specifi c provisions once trade debts are deemed not collectible. Accordingly, our Group does not expect to 
incur material credit losses on our risk management or other fi nancial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Our Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to interest-bearing fi nancial assets and 
liabilities. Interest rate risk is managed on an on-going basis with the objective of limiting the extent to which net 
interest expenses could be affected by an adverse movement in interest rates. We also obtain fi nancing through 
bank borrowings and fi nance lease arrangements. It is the Group’s policy to obtain the most favourable interest 
rates available without increasing our exposure.

Liquidity Risk

The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that the Group has suffi cient funds to meet its contractual 
and fi nancial obligations. To manage liquidity risk, we monitor our net cash fl ow and maintain a level of cash 
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management for working capital purposes so as to mitigate the 
effects of fl uctuations in cash fl ows.

Derivative Financial Instrument Risk

The Group does not hold or issue derivative fi nancial instruments.
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CLASS OF SHARES
Ordinary Shares

NUMBER OF SHARES
250,447,985

NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS
The number of ordinary shareholders as at 20 March 2017 is 1,192.

VOTING RIGHTS
1 vote for each Ordinary Share held

TREASURY SHARES
Nil

SHAREHOLDINGS HELD IN HANDS OF PUBLIC

Based on information provided and to the best knowledge of the Directors, approximately 50.69% of the total 
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company are 
held in the hands of the public as at 20 March 2017. Rule 723 of the Listing Manual (Section B: Rules of Catalist) 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited has therefore been complied with.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS BY RANGE AS AT 20 MARCH 2017

RANGE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDERS %
NO. OF 
SHARES %

1 --- 99 89 7.47 1,117 0.00
100 --- 1,000 449 37.67 263,859 0.10
1,001 --- 10,000 188 15.77 1,266,502 0.51
10,001 --- 1,000,000 438 36.74 42,466,887 16.96
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 28 2.35 206,449,620 82.43

1,192 100.00 250,447,985 100.00
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 20 MARCH 2017

Substantial Shareholder

Shareholdings 
registered in 
the name of 

the substantial 
shareholder

Shareholdings 
held by 

substantial 
shareholder

in the name of 
nominees

Shareholdings 
in which the 
substantial 
shareholder 

are deemed to 
be interested

Total
Percentage 

of issued 
shares

Tsng Joo Peng (1) 16,300,000 1,048,426 – 17,348,426 6.93%
Wong Leon Keat(2) 12,000,000 – 11,200,000 23,200,000 9.26%
Ong Mun Wah 27,523,000 – – 27,523,000 10.99%
Lim Teck Chuan 28,432,561 – – 28,432,561 11.35%
Ng Quek Peng 27,000,000 – – 27,000,000 10.78%

Note:

(1) Mr Tsng Joo Peng is deemed to be interested in the 1,048,426 shares pledged to Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd.

(2) Mr Wong Leon Keat is deemed to be interested in the 11,200,000 shares held by his spouse, Mdm Edi Ng.

 
TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 20 MARCH 2017 

NO. NAME
NO. OF 

SHARES HELD %
1 LIM TECK CHUAN 28,432,561 11.35
2 ONG MUN WAH 27,523,000 10.99
3 NG QUEK PENG 27,000,000 10.78
4 TSNG JOO PENG 16,300,000 6.51
5 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 15,697,366 6.27
6 WONG LEON KEAT (HUANG LIANGJIE) 12,000,000 4.79
7 EDI NG 11,200,000 4.47
8 KHWAJA ASIF RAHMAN 10,000,000 3.99 
9 CHIA PUAY HWEE 6,919,000 2.76
10 TANG HEOK SENG (CHEN XUSHENG) 5,712,400 2.28
11 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD 5,421,800 2.17
12 SBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 4,525,500 1.81
13 SEM ANG NGI 3,958,900 1.58
14 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 3,044,126 1.22
15 LEE CHEE BOON 2,940,000 1.17
16 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 2,858,190 1.14
17 ANG JUI KHOON 2,557,400 1.02
18 TAN TEONG HOO 2,478,000 0.99
19 CHUA KENG HWEE 2,300,000 0.92
20 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 2,187,603 0.87

193,055,846 77.08
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 55 Market Street 
#03-01, Raffl es Place, Singapore 048941 on Tuesday, 25 April 2017 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the following 
businesses:-

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statements and Audited Financial Statements for the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2016 and the Independent Auditors’ Report thereon. [Resolution 1]

2 To re-elect Mr Wong Leon Keat who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Regulation 105 of the Company’s 
Constitution as Director of the Company. [Resolution 2]

3 To re-elect Mr Goh Teck Sia who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Regulation 105 of the Company’s 
Constitution as Director of the Company.

 [See Explanatory Note (a)] [Resolution 3]

4 To re-elect Ms Lau Lee Hua who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Regulation 105 of the Company’s 
Constitution as Director of the Company.

 [See Explanatory Note (b)] [Resolution 4]

5 To re-elect Mr Ronnie Tan Siew Bin who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Regulation 105 of the Company’s 
Constitution as Director of the Company.

 [See Explanatory Note (c)] [Resolution 5] 

6 To approve Directors’ fees of S$150,000/- for the fi nancial year ending 31 December 2017. (2016: 
S$104,600/-) [Resolution 6]

7 To re-appoint Messrs KPMG LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fi x their 
remuneration.  [Resolution 7]

8 To transact any other business that may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

Special Business

To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass the following as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifi cations:-

General mandate to allot and issue new shares

9 “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“Act”) and Rule 806 of the Listing 
Manual (Section B : Rules of Catalist) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) 
and the Constitution of the Company, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company 
to:-

 (A) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) (whether by way of rights, bonus or 
otherwise); and/or

  (ii) make or grant offers, agreements, or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 
require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 
adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible or exchangeable into 
Shares,

  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as 
the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fi t; and

 (B) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue 
Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was 
in force,
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provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be issued 
in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 100 per cent 
of the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares (as calculated in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2) below), and provided further that where shareholders of the Company are not given the 
opportunity to participate in the same on a pro-rata basis, then the aggregate number of Shares to be 
issued under such circumstances (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or 
granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50 per cent of the total number of issued Shares 
excluding treasury shares (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below); and

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation and adjustments as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the 
purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub- paragraph (1) 
above:-

 (a) the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares shall be calculated based on the total 
number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares at the time of this Resolution is passed, after 
adjusting for:

  (aa) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities;

  (bb) new Shares arising from the exercise of share options or vesting of share awards which are 
outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed; and

  (cc) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

 (b) in relation to an Instrument, the number of Shares shall be taken to be that number as would have 
been issued had the rights therein been fully exercised or effected on the date of the making or 
granting of the Instrument;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of 
the listing rules of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by 
the SGX-ST) and the Constitution for the time being of the Company; and

(4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution 
shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the 
date by which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever 
is the earlier.”

 [See Explanatory Note (d)] [Resolution 8]

Renewal of share buyback mandate

10 “That :

 (a) for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Act the exercise by the Directors of the Company 
of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire ordinary shares in the capital 
of the Company (“Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereafter defi ned), 
at such price or prices as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time to time 
up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defi ned), whether by way of:

  (i) market purchase(s) on the SGX-ST; 

  and/or

  (ii) off-market purchase(s) (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with any 
equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as they 
consider fi t, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all conditions prescribed by the Act,
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  and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as 
may from time to time be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and 
unconditionally (the “Share Buyback Mandate”);

 (b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the 
Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate may be exercised by the 
Directors of the Company at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from 
the date of the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earliest of:

  (i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting or the date by which such annual 
general meeting of the Company is held or required by law to be held;

  (ii) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buyback Mandate is varied or 
revoked by an ordinary resolution of shareholders of the Company in general meeting; or

  (iii) the date on which purchases and acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback 
Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; 

 (c) in this Resolution:

  “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of the Shares for the last 
fi ve (5) Market Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded immediately preceding 
the date of the market purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making 
of the offer pursuant to the off-market purchase, and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with 
the listing rules of the SGX-ST for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant fi ve (5) Market 
Days period;

  “date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention 
to make an offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from holders of Shares, stating therein 
the purchase price (which shall not be more than the Maximum Price for an off-market purchase 
calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of the equal access 
scheme for effecting the off-market purchase;

  “Maximum Limit” means that number of Shares representing ten per cent. (10%) of the total 
number of Ordinary Shares as at the date of the passing of this Resolution (excluding any Shares 
which are held as treasury shares as at that date); and

  “Maximum Price”, in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase 
price (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related 
expenses) which shall not exceed, pursuant to a market purchase, 105% of the Average Closing 
Price of the Shares and pursuant to an off-market purchase, 120% of the Average Closing Price of 
the Shares; and

 (d) the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and 
do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they 
and/or he may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated 
and/or authorised by this Resolution.

  [See Explanatory Note (e)] [Resolution 9]

By Order of the Board

Leaw Wei Siang 
Sharon Yeoh
Company Secretaries
10 April 2017

Singapore
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Explanatory Notes:

(a) Mr Goh Teck Sia, if re-elected, will remain as the Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company and as a 
member of the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee and will also continue to remain as Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee. Mr Goh Teck Sia will be considered as an Independent Director of the Company for the 
purposes of Rule 704 (7) of the Catalist Rules. 

(b) Ms Lau Lee Hua, if re-elected, will remain as a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nominating Committee 
and will also continue to remain as the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Ms Lau Lee Hua will be considered as an 
Independent Director of the Company for the purposes of Rule 704 (7) of the Catalist Rules. 

(c)  Mr Ronnie Tan Siew Bin, if re-elected, will remain as a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee 
and will also continue to remain as the Chairman of the Nominating Committee. Mr Ronnie Tan Siew Bin will be 
considered as an Independent Director of the Company for the purposes of Rule 704 (7) of the Catalist Rules. 

(d) The ordinary resolution 8 set out in item 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of this Annual 
General Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting is required by law to be held or such authority is revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, 
whichever is earlier, to allot and issue Shares, make or grant instruments convertible into Shares and to issue Shares 
pursuant to such instruments up to an aggregate number not exceeding 100% of the total number of issued Shares 
excluding treasury shares in the capital of the Company, with a sub-limit of 50% for issues other than on a pro-rata 
basis. For determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued the total number of issued Shares excluding 
treasury shares shall be calculated based on the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares at the time 
of this ordinary resolution 8 above is passed after adjusting for new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of 
convertible securities, share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this 
ordinary resolution 8 above is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares.

(e) The ordinary resolution 9, if passed, will renew the Share Buyback Mandate and will authorise the Directors to purchase 
or otherwise acquire Shares on the terms and subject to the conditions of the resolution. The rationale for, the authority 
and limitation on, the sources of funds to be used for the purchase or acquisition including the amount of fi nancing 
and the fi nancial effects of the purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback 
Mandate on the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 
2016 are set out in greater detail in the Letter to Shareholders enclosed together with the Annual Report. The authority 
will expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, unless previously revoked or waived at a general 
meeting.

Notes:

1. A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and 
vote on his behalf at the Annual General Meeting. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify 
the proportion of his shares to be represented by each such proxy, failing which the nomination shall be deemed to be 
alternative.

2. Pursuant to Section 181 of the Act, any member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting. Relevant intermediary is either:

 (a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap 19) or its wholly-owned subsidiary which provides 
nominee services and holds shares in that capacity;

 (b) a capital markets services licence holder which provides custodial services for securities under the Securities and 
Future Act (Cap. 289) and holds shares in that capacity; or

 (c) the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board established by the Central Provident Fund (Cap. 36), in respect of shares 
purchased on behalf of CPF investors.

3. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, duly executed, must be deposited together with the power of attorney (if 
any) under which it is signed or a notarially certifi ed or offi ce copy thereof at the registered offi ce of the Company at 
29 Tai Seng Avenue #07-01 Natural Cool Lifestyle Hub Singapore 534119, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the 
time set for holding the Annual General Meeting.
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PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

Where a member of the Company submits an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak 
and vote at the Annual General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to 
the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the 
processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual 
General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, proxy 
lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order 
for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, 
the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any 
penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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 NATURAL COOL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration No. 200509967G

PROXY FORM

IMPORTANT 
1. Relevant intermediary may appoint more than two proxies to 

attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting and vote 
(please see Note 3 for the defi nition of “relevant intermediary”).

2. An investor who holds shares under the Supplementary Retirement 
Scheme (“SRS Investors”) may attend and cast his vote(s) at the 
Meeting in person. SRS Investors who are unable to attend the 
Meeting but would like to vote, may inform their SRS Approved 
Nominees to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting to act as their 
proxy, in which case, the SRS Investors shall be precluded from 
attending the Meeting.

3. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by SRS Investors and shall be 
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be 
used by them.

4. By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s), a member accepts and agrees to the personal 
data privacy terms set out in the Notes of this Proxy Form.

I/We  NRIC/Passport/Co. Registration No .

of 

being a member/members of NATURAL COOL HOLDINGS LIMITED hereby appoint

Name Address NRIC/Passport
No.

Proportion of
Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport
No.

Proportion of
Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company, as my/our 
proxy/ proxies to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the AGM of the Company to be held at 55 Market 
Street #03-01, Raffl es Place, Singapore 048941 on Tuesday, 25 April 2017 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment 
thereof.

I/We have indicated with an “X” in the appropriate box below how I/we wish my/our proxy/proxies to vote. If 
no specifi c direction as to voting is given, my/our proxy/proxies may vote or abstain at his/their discretion as 
he/they will on any other matters arising at the AGM.

No. Resolutions Relating To: For Against
AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1 Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the fi nancial year ended 

31December 2016
2 Re-election of Mr Wong Leon Keat as Director
3 Re-election of Mr Goh Teck Sia as Director
4 Re-election of Ms Lau Lee Hua as Director
5 Re-election of Mr Ronnie Tan Siew Bin as Director
6 Approval of Directors’ fees for the fi nancial year ending 31 December 2017
7 Re-appointment of KPMG LLP as auditors
AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
8 Authority to allot and issue new shares
9 Approval for renewal of Share Buyback Mandate

* Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with an “X” within the box provided.

Dated this  day of  2017

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares
(a) Depository Register
(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or
Common Seal of Corporate Member

IMPORTANT : PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF





Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository 
Register (as defi ned in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore), you should insert 
that number of shares. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you 
should insert that number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares 
registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares entered against 
your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2. A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote 
on his behalf at the AGM. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shares 
to be represented by each such proxy, failing which the nomination shall be deemed to be alternative.

3. Pursuant to Section 181 of the Act, any member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting. Relevant intermediary is either:

 (a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap 19) or its wholly-owned subsidiary which provides 
nominee services and holds shares in that capacity;

 (b) a capital markets services licence holder which provides custodial services for securities under the Securities and 
Future Act (Cap. 289) and holds shares in that capacity; or

 (c) the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board established by the Central Provident Fund (Cap. 36), in respect of shares 
purchased on behalf of CPF investors.

4. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered offi ce at 29 Tai Seng 
Avenue #07-01 Natural Cool Lifestyle Hub Singapore 534119 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for 
the Annual General Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised 
in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed under 
its common seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney duly authorised in writing or by an authorised offi cer of the 
corporation.

7. Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointer by an attorney the letter or 
the power of attorney (or other authority) or a duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the 
Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

8. A corporation which is a member may by resolution of its Directors or other governing body authorises such person as it 
thinks fi t to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting.

9. The Company shall be entitled to reject this instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly 
completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the appointer are not ascertainable from the instructions of the 
appointer specifi ed in this instruments appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of members whose shares 
are entered against their names in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy 
or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointer, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the 
Depository Register as at seventy-two (72) hours before the time set for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certifi ed 
by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

Where a member of the Company submits an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, 
speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, 
use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing 
and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, proxy lists, minutes and other documents 
relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any 
applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member 
discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member 
has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the 
Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees 
that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as 
a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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